

Identifying 'best practices' in education:

Findings from a literature review

Final Report

Dr Rasha Essam

Prof Don Passey Department of Educational Research Lancaster University, UK

September 2022

Contents

1. Exe	cutive summary
1.1	Overview of the findings
1.2	Applying the findings to practice6
1.3	Limitations of the report6
2. Bac	kground to this literature review study7
2.1	The aim7
2.2	The research question
2.3	The objectives
2.4	The research process
3. Lite	erature review overview
3.1	Scope of the literature review9
4. Pha	ase 1: Pedagogic principles
4.1	The pedagogic principles13
4.1.1	Design-based learning:13
4.1.2	Problem-based learning:
4.1.3	STEM toys:
4.1.4	Group learning:
4.1.5	Multimedia learning:13
4.1.6	Reflective learning:
4.1.7	Collaborative game-design learning:13
4.1.8	Engineering design learning:14
4.1.9	Exploratory learning:14
4.1.10	0 Simulative-based learning:14
4.1.12	Inquiry-based learning:14
4.1.12	2 Experiential learning:14
4.1.13	B Feedback-based learning:14
4.1.14	14 Inclusive learning:
4.1.15	5 Service learning:14
4.1.16	5 Learning by modelling:14
4.1.17	7 Contextual learning:14
4.1.18	3 Digital game-based learning:14
4.1.19	9 Story-based learning:15
4.1.20) Inter-cultural learning:

	4.1.21	Mobile/location game-based learning:	. 15
	4.1.22	Personalised-based learning:	. 15
	4.1.23	Research-based learning:	. 15
	4.1.24	Self-regulated learning:	. 15
	4.1.25	Open-ended questions learning:	. 15
	4.2	Sources of evidence	. 15
	4.3	Relationships of pedagogic principles	. 17
	4.4	Using the literature review evidence to support teachers and teacher professional	
	develop	oment	. 20
5.	Phas	e 2: Teaching practices	.21
	5.1	Teaching practices related to each of the pedagogic principles	21
	5.1.1	Design-based learning:	. 21
	5.1.2	Problem-based learning:	. 22
	5.1.3	STEM toys:	. 22
	5.1.4	Group learning:	. 22
	5.1.5	Multimedia learning:	. 22
	5.1.6	Reflective learning:	. 23
	5.1.7	Collaborative game-design learning:	.23
	5.1.8	Engineering design learning:	. 23
	5.1.9	Exploratory learning:	. 24
	5.1.10	Simulative-based learning:	. 24
	5.1.11	Inquiry-based learning:	. 25
	5.1.12	Experiential learning:	. 25
	5.1.13	Feedback-based learning:	. 25
	5.1.14	Inclusive learning:	. 26
	5.1.15	Service learning:	. 27
	5.1.16	Learning by modelling:	. 27
	5.1.17	Contextual learning:	. 28
	5.1.18	Digital game-based learning:	. 28
	5.1.19	Story-based learning:	. 28
	5.1.20	Inter-cultural learning:	. 28
	5.1.21	Mobile/location game-based learning:	. 29
	5.1.22	Personalised-based learning:	. 29
	5.1.23	Research-based learning:	. 30
	5.1.24	Self-regulated learning:	. 30
	5.1.25	Question-based learning:	. 31

	5.2	Relating teaching practices to the pedagogic principles	.31
6.	Phas	se 3: Instructional approaches and outcomes	. 33
	6.1	Instructional approaches and outcomes related to each of the pedagogic principles	.33
	6.1.1	Design-based learning:	. 33
	6.1.2	Problem-based learning:	. 35
	6.1.3	STEM toys:	. 35
	6.1.4	Group learning:	. 36
	6.1.5	Multimedia learning:	. 37
	6.1.6	Reflective learning:	. 37
	6.1.7	Collaborative game-design learning:	. 39
	6.1.8	Engineering design learning:	. 40
	6.1.9	Exploratory learning:	.42
	6.1.10	Simlative-based learning:	.43
	6.1.11	Inquiry-based learning:	.43
	6.1.12	Experiential learning:	.44
	6.1.13	Feedback-based learning:	.44
	6.1.14	Inclusive learning:	.46
	6.1.15	Service learning:	. 47
	6.1.16	Learning by modelling:	.48
	6.1.17	Contextual learning:	. 49
	6.1.18	Digital game-based learning:	. 50
	6.1.19	Story-based learning:	. 51
	6.1.20	Inter-cultural learning:	. 52
	6.1.21	Mobile/location game-based learning:	. 53
	6.1.22	Personalised-based learning:	. 54
	6.1.23	Research-based learning:	. 55
	6.1.24	Self-regulated learning:	. 57
	6.1.25	Question-based learning:	. 58
	6.2	Overview of the pedagogic outcomes	. 59
	6.3	Relating instructional approaches to the pedagogic principles	.61
7.	An c	overview framework	. 63
8.	Refe	rences	. 65

1. Executive summary

1.1 Overview of the findings

This report is concerned with detailing the processes involved in teaching; this was accomplished through an analysis of existing research literature. It was recognised at the outset of the study that teachers engage with teaching and learning in three related but different ways. They are concerned with processes involving: pedagogic principles (how they think about the background philosophies and objectives of their teaching); teaching practices (how they might plan for their teaching and their students' learning); and instructional approaches (how they might construct specific lessons and activities, who is involved in doing what, and what outcomes are desired).

The literature review and subsequent analysis drew out specific features and factors that relate to these three areas of teaching concern. Within the area of 'teacher thinking', two aspects of concern were identified – pedagogic principles (such as problem-based learning, or experiential learning) and pedagogic objectives (such as collaboration, or design). Within the area of 'teacher planning', a range of teaching practices were identified that link to pedagogic principles and objectives (such as designing activities, or ensuring equitable student access). Within the area of 'teacher doing', two main concerns were identified – instructional approaches, and pedagogic outcomes. The concern with instructional approaches was further divided into two sub-categories – higher order (general approaches that were taken, such as grouping students, or moderating feedback), and lower order (more specific approaches that were taken, such as asking for student feedback, or time and ways for reviewing and modifying prototypes).

A way to visualise these features, concerned with ways that teachers work, is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: A Framework of the Pedagogic Features explored in the Report

1.2 Applying the findings to practice

Using this overall framework shown in Figure 1, teachers might wish to use the details in this report to explore ways to consider their teaching. However, the ways that the details might be used could well depend on the experience that teachers already have.

For example, an experienced teacher might wish to use Figure 1 to consider some pedagogic principles regarded as strengths and those regarded as less developed or used in their teaching. Choosing pedagogic principles that might be less used, it would be possible then for the teacher to explore the details from the figures and tables, to show how such principles might link to existing teaching approaches, but the details might suggest ways to develop additional teaching practices and instructional approaches.

On the other hand, a less experienced teacher might start with pedagogic outcomes that are felt would be worth exploring, and from these, work backwards to consider details about possible instructional approaches, related teaching practices and ways of thinking through pedagogic principles. In this way, a less experienced teacher might develop their thinking through a doing and planning route; an experienced teacher might develop their practice by exploring their thinking perspectives before looking at possible planning and doing approaches.

1.3 Limitations of the report

This report offers a structured way to consider teaching and the various processes that teachers take on board before they are directly involved in lessons and activities with students. It considers processes that teachers use prior to direct engagement, which enable the teacher to relate fundamental approaches to learning through their teaching. When teachers are in lessons, and students are engaged in activities, there are occasions, of course, when teachers need to 'think on their feet'. This might happen when students raise questions, or when unexpected problems arise. This report and the detail included is not focused on this area of teaching need; identifying teaching processes involved in 'thinking on your feet' would be a separate research focus, which goes beyond the scope of this research report.

2. Background to this literature review study

Much research literature has been devoted to identifying 'best practices' in education. Some of this literature has looked at 'best' pedagogic principles (such as developing collaborative learning practices, supporting questioning approaches, regular assessment, or self-reflection by students). Other literature has focused on teacher practices that 'best' support these pedagogic principles (such as using interactive whiteboards to encourage peer teaching, using question banks that provide instant feedback and teacher monitoring facility, using response devices to gain a picture of class and individual student understanding, or using highlighted texts to support student focus on key elements on which to review and reflect). What the literature is more limited in providing is detail of how the teacher undertakes these teaching practices (through instructional approaches) to support pedagogic principles.

The aim of this research is, therefore, to explore this field further – to provide a framework that shows the 'best' pedagogic principles highlighted by the research, the 'best' teacher practices to support these, and the 'best' instructional approaches to implement them.

In order to achieve this outcome, the research, focusing on appropriate literature reviews and analyses, will be undertaken in three phases: the elicitation of 'best' pedagogic principles; the identification of 'best' teaching practices; and the description of 'best' instructional approaches. This review will explore research that has gathered evidence internationally but has sought to draw on the research literature from the widest possible geographic regions across the world.

To support teacher professional development, the overall outcome of this review will seek to provide evidence that can be constructed in ways for teachers and teacher educators to 'think' about their practice, to 'plan' for learning activities and to identify what they and learners 'do' through engagement in lessons.

2.1 The aim

What we examine in this review is:

- What are the 'best' pedagogic principles and the 'best' teaching practices that most affect positive student outcomes across the 4-18-year-old (K-12 grade) levels and curriculum areas, as identified by the research literature?
- How can each element of 'best' teaching practice be described in terms of 'best' instructional approach?
- How, according to strongest possible evidence from the research, do teachers 'best' implement instructional approaches that support teaching practices and pedagogic principles using digital technologies¹ to improve student learning outcomes?
- How can the outcomes of the three aims be integrated into a framework to support educators and teachers?

¹ In the educational research literature context, digital technologies refer largely and most often to hardware, such as student devices, teacher devices, front of room displays, but also to resources such as online video conferencing, software, etc. The remainder of this proposal adopts this form of definition of digital technologies.

2.2 The research question

The overarching research question of this review is: How, according to strongest possible evidence from the research, are instructional 'best' approaches with teacher practices and pedagogic principles integrated to ensure, as far as possible, the effective uses of digital technologies to help improve student learning outcomes?

2.3 The objectives

The research was divided into three phases:

- A literature review to elicit up to 25 'best' pedagogic principles that positively affect student outcomes across the 4-18-year-old (K-12 grade) levels and curriculum areas.
- Identifying the 'best' teacher practices that relate to each of the 25 pedagogic principles.
- Describing for each teacher practice, one or more examples of 'best' instructional approaches that show how a teacher has implemented this within a classroom environment, using digital technologies.

2.4 The research process

The research was undertaken in three phases:

- Phase 1. Initially, a literature review was conducted, which searched for evidence of 'best' pedagogic principles. This literature review focused on meta-analyses and more recent studies, including any arising from reviews from practices during the pandemic period, which offered a source of evidence that itself drew from wide ranges of existing literature, and extracted key elements. These meta-analyses and additional studies ensured that pedagogic principles identified accommodated outcomes associated with wide uses (beyond but not excluding those where digital technologies were used). From the range of meta-analyses and additional studies reviewed, up to 25 'best' pedagogic principles were identified (generally, either by frequency of report, or by strength of statistical outcome).
- Phase 2. The references within the meta-analyses and additional studies were used to select relevant literature relating to the identification of 'best' teacher practices. This part of the review required specific selection of sources, as a search of this nature often identifies a range of literature that is not entirely pertinent to the topic being explored. Each of the pedagogic principles were exemplified with a number of 'best' teacher practices, identified from the literature reviewed from the meta-analysis and additional sources. The literature was extended to sources arising from the pandemic period, as there were no known meta-analyses that explored teacher practices at that time. These teacher practices covered those concerned with wide uses, beyond but not excluding the range where digital technologies were used.
- Phase 3. The third phase of the review required an analysis of the literature identified in the second phase, drawing out 'best' instructional approaches for each teacher practice listed. From the relevant literature sources, together details describing the instructional approach, demographic details of the education/school type, educational level, population and size, location, and region, all listed where these details were provided.

3. Literature review overview

3.1 Scope of the literature review

The scope of the initial literature review is shown in Table 1. Table 1 shows the author(s), titles, age range of students involved in each of the published studies, location(s) of the study, and the study field. The review has taken evidence from across the age range, from across geographical and regional locations, and from across subject fields.

	Author(s)	Title	Age range	Location(s)	Subject field
1.	(Chen, Chen, &	Creative Situated	Fifth and	Taiwan	Astronomy
	Wang, 2022)	Augmented Reality	sixth grade		
		Learning for Astronomy			
		Curricula			
2.	(Jocius, Albert,	A study in contradictions:	1st, 2nd, 3rd,	USA	Mobile Maker
	Andrews, &	Exploring standards-	4th, and 5th		Kit lessons
	Blanton, 2020)	based making in	grades		
		elementary classrooms			
3.	(Kajamaa &	Students' multimodal	Primary level	Finland	STEAM
	Kumpulainen,	knowledge practices in a			
	2020)	makerspace learning			
	/1 1 1 .	environment	C 11 1		CTEN 4
4.	(Ladachart,	Design thinking mindsets	Seventh to	Turkey	STEM
	Radchanet, &	facilitating students	tweifth -		
	Phothong,	learning of scientific	grade		
	2022)	concepts in design-based	students		
-	(Liston 2022)	Activities	10 to 12	Iroland	Designing and
5.	(LISTOII, 2022)	toys: A model of	10 to 12	Irelanu	building tous
		incorporating both the	years old		(STEM)
		engineering design and			
		design thinking processes			
		in the elementary			
		classroom			
6.	(Lottero-Perdue	Engineering mindsets and	10 to 11	USA	Engineering
	& Lachapelle,	learning outcomes in	years old		education
	2020)	elementary school	-		
7.	(Muramatsu,	e-Design education using	Primary	Bhutan	E-design
	Wangmo, &	a 3d printer based on	school		education
	Wangchuk,	design thinking at	students		
	2019)	primary school			
8.	(Panskyi &	A holistic digital game-	Primary	Poland	Game-based
	Rowińska, 2021)	based learning approach	school		learning
		to out-of-school primary	students		(Programming
		programming education			education)
9.	(Scott, Pilla,	STEM through inquiry	Years 7 and 8	Australia	STEM
	Keeffe, &	projects for students: A			education
	White, 2021)	teacher's perspective			

Table 1: Details of the Literature reviewed in the Report

	Author(s)	Title	Age range	Location(s)	Subject field
10.	(Sinervo et al.,	Elementary school pupil's	11-13 years	Finland	Digital and
	2021)	co-inventions: products	old		traditional
		and pupil's reflections on			fabrication
		processes			technologies
11.	(Stehle &	Developing student 21st	Grades 11	USA	STEM
	Peters-Burton,	century skills in selected	and 12		
	2019)	exemplary inclusive STEM			
		high schools			
12.	(Sun, Chang, &	When life science meets	Fifth graders	Shanghai	Life sciences
	Chiang, 2022)	educational robotics: A			
		study of students'	10 to 11		
		problem solving process	years old		
10		in a primary school			<u> </u>
13.	(Wendell,	Supporting knowledge	Elementary	USA	Engineering
	Andrews, &	construction in	Fourth and		design
	Paugn, 2019)	elementary engineering	Fifth graders		
1.4	(\\\/ 8. ;	Gesign	Second grade	Taiwan	Romoto control
14.	(WU & LIU,	control cars and	olomontary	Taiwali	carr
	2022)	authentic learning in			Cars
		strengthening creative	old		
		thinking and problem-	olu		
		solving abilities			
15.	(Yang, Long,	Fostering students'	Grades 4 and	China	Educational
	Sun, Van Aalst,	creativity via educational	6		robotics
	& Cheng, 2020)	robotics: An investigation			
	_	of teachers' pedagogical			
		practices based on			
		teacher interviews			
16.	(Hall &	Creativity in teaching:	Primary and	UK	STEAM
	Thomson, 2016)	what can teachers learn	Secondary		
		from artists?			
17.	(Noel & Liu,	Using Design Thinking	Primary	USA	Mathematics
	2016)	To create a new	school level		and language
		Education paradigm			arts
		For elementary level			
		Children för nigher			
		And success			
18	(Means	The effectiveness of	13 to 44	Not	Computer
10.	Tovama	online and blended	vears old	mentioned	science.
	Murphy, & Baki	learning: A meta-analysis	, cars ola		teacher
	2013)	of the empirical literature			education.
	,				social science.
					mathematics,
					languages,
					science, and
					business

	Author(s)	Title	Age range	Location(s)	Subject field
19.	(Tamim,	What forty years of	Secondary	Not	Combination
	Bernard,	research says about the	and Primary	mentioned	Science and
	Borokhovski,	impact of technology on			health
	Abrami, &	learning: A second-order			Language
	Schmid, 2011)	meta-analysis and			Mathematics
		validation study			Information
					Literacy
					Engineering
					Science and
					health
					Language
20.	(Borokhovski,	Are contextual and	Not	Not	Not mentioned
	Tamim,	designed student-student	mentioned	mentioned	
	Bernard,	interaction treatments			
	Abrami, &	equally effective in			
	Sokolovskaya,	distance education?			
	2012)				
21.	(Margulieux,	Mixing in-class and online	Higher	Not	Mathematics
	McCracken, &	learning: Content meta-	Education *	mentioned	
	Catrambone,	analysis of outcomes for			
	2015)	hybrid, blended, and			
		flipped courses			
22.	(Hattie &	The power of feedback	Not	Not	Mathematics
	Timperley,		mentioned	mentioned	English
22	2007)			Nuet	En aliah
23.	(WISHIEWSKI,	revisited: A meta analysis	Kindergarten,	NOL	English
	$210101, \otimes 1000000$	of educational foodback	primary	mentioned	Science
	2020)	research	secondary		Science
		research	school		
			college or		
			university		
24.	(Garzón,	How do pedagogical	All	Not	Mathematics
	Kinshuk,	approaches affect the		mentioned	English
	Baldiris,	impact of augmented			Arts and
	Gutiérrez, &	reality on education? A			Humanities
	Pavón, 2020)	meta-analysis and			Social sciences
		research synthesis			
25.	(Rice, 2022)	Special Education	Kindergarten,	USA	Special
		Teachers' Use of	grade 3,		education
		Technologies During the	grade, 6, and		
		COVID-19 Era (Spring	grade 10.		
		2020—Fall 2021)			
26.	(Nisiforou,	Emergency remote	K-12	Cyprus	General
	Kosmas, &	teaching during COVID-19			
	Vrasidas, 2021)	pandemic: lessons			
		learned from Cyprus			

	Author(s)	Title	Age range	Location(s)	Subject field
27.	(Mahbub, Seraj,	A Systematic Review on	Not	Not	Not mentioned
	Chakraborty,	Pedagogical Trends and	mentioned	mentioned	
	Menal, &	Assessment Practices			
	Rosnia, 2022)	Dandamia Taashara' and			
		Students' Perspectives			
20	(Liu 9, 7hao	Moto applycic of	lunior high	Malaycia	English
20.	(LIU & ZIIdO, 2022)	offectiveness of	school	ivialaysia	Antiphishing
	2022)	electroencenhalogram	High school		Virtual reality
		monitoring of sustained	riigii school		Virtual reality
		attention for improving			
		online learning			
		achievement			
29.	(Bishop, 2021)	Middle Grades Teacher	Middle	Not	English
	-	Practices during the	grades	mentioned	language arts;
		COVID-19 Pandemic			mathematics;
					science; social
					studies; special
					education.
30.	(Crompton,	Support provided for K-	K-12	UK,	Mathematics
	Burke, Jordan,	12 teachers teaching		Australia,	
	& Wilson, 2021)	remotely with technology		Belgium,	
		during emergencies: A		Cyprus,	
		systematic review		Ireland, and	
				the	
				(52	
				(J2 countries)	
31.	(Spitzer &	Academic performance of	К-12	Germany	Mathematics
0 = 1	Musslick. 2021)	K-12 students in an		contract,	
	, 1	online-learning			
		environment for			
		mathematics increased			
		during the shutdown of			
		schools in wake of the			
		COVID-19 pandemic			

4. Phase 1: Pedagogic principles



4.1 The pedagogic principles

In total, 25 pedagogic principles were identified from the literature review, all principles that support a range of learning outcomes. These 25 pedagogic principles are listed here, with definitions arising from the existing literature.

4.1.1 Design-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on design-based tasks that include learning through: 1) analysing the situation, 2) defining the problem, 3) modelling ideas, 4) designing solutions, 5) predicting results, 6) questioning unexpected outcomes, and 7) managing the designing process (Ladachart et al., 2022).

4.1.2 Problem-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on enabling students to gain systematic, mechanical, and complex skillset in order to use knowledge for solving problems (Aslan & Duruhan, 2021; Sun, Chang, & Chiang, 2022).

4.1.3 STEM toys:

This pedagogic principle focuses on using toys for learning using science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) (Coyle & Liben, 2020).

4.1.4 Group learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on group members where each is responsible for the entire group's work (Lestari & Ariesta, 2020).

4.1.5 Multimedia learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on presenting words and pictures to enhance learning through building mental representations of objects. Multimedia learning uses animations, digital games, static graphics, and interactive simulations (So, Chen, & Wan, 2019).

4.1.6 Reflective learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on students' analysis and conscious thinking towards previous learning activities (Daradoumis & Arguedas, 2020).

4.1.7 Collaborative game-design learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on teamwork, joint reflection, and collaborative creation of knowledge (Laakso, Korhonen, & Hakkarainen, 2021).

4.1.8 Engineering design learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on solving problems iteratively for improving the solution based on received feedback (Lottero-Perdue & Lachapelle, 2020).

4.1.9 Exploratory learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on the deep reflection after the practices of learning (Freitas & Neumann, 2009; Lottero-Perdue & Lachapelle, 2020).

4.1.10 Simulative-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on making the invisible visible for helping students learn sophisticated concepts (Alfred, Neyens, & Gramopadhye, 2018; Sarwoto, Jatmiko, & Sudibyo, 2020).

4.1.11 Inquiry-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on enabling students to think critically and develop their skills for discovering concepts through the use of different approaches to solve problems (Maryani, Lestari, & Saifuddin, 2019).

4.1.12 Experiential learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on developing concepts by reflecting on experiences that can be used as guidelines for successive experimentations (Healey & Jenkins, 2000; Sumarmi et al., 2020).

4.1.13 Feedback-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on providing information to students using agents such as book, peer, teacher, peer, self, parent, and/or experience concerning one's understanding or performance (Griffith, Johnson, Larson, & Buttitta, 2020; Maier, 2021).

4.1.14 Inclusive learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on practices that use service-learning and learning communities projects (López-Azuaga & Suárez Riveiro, 2020).

4.1.15 Service learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on preparing students to use their skills and knowledge and skills to solve authentic problems in communities outside schools (Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2021).

4.1.16 Learning by modelling:

This pedagogic principle focuses on organising and converting students' knowledge to form computational structures that can be put into practice to generate model behaviors (Hutchins et al., 2020).

4.1.17 Contextual learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on situating learners in meaningful learning contexts (Sung, Hwang, Chen, & Liu, 2022).

4.1.18 Digital game-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on engaging students in an activity that teaches somewhat valuable or produces a common good to the player through focusing their attention using elements of fantasy, challenge, and curiosity (Yeh, Sai, & Chuang, 2020).

4.1.19 Story-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on the use of stories for enhancing feelings of relatedness (Yeh et al., 2020).

4.1.20 Inter-cultural learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on examining culture through dialog and interaction. (Piipponen & Karlsson, 2019).

4.1.21 Mobile/location game-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on connecting students' learning to external environments outside the school using games (Huizenga, Admiraal, Dam, & Voogt, 2019).

4.1.22 Personalised-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on adapting learning content and difficulty level to student's learning abilities (Thai, Bang, & Li, 2022).

4.1.23 Research-based learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on helping students develop: 1) own research questions, 2) hypotheses, 3) systematic inquiry, 4) data collection tools, 5) analysis of findings, 6) presentations for real audience (Bjørkvold & Ryen, 2021).

4.1.24 Self-regulated learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on a learning process where students do the following: 1) identify their learning needs, 2) formulate their learning goals, 3) identify their learning resources, 4) choose their learning strategies, and 5) evaluate their learning outcomes (Lloyd, Rieber, 1996).

4.1.25 Open-ended questions learning:

This pedagogic principle focuses on prompting students to reason and reflect by thinking actively to solve problems and make decisions based on data analysis and evaluation (Monrat, Phaksunchai, & Chonchaiya, 2022).

4.2 Sources of evidence

The sources of pedagogic principles in the literature review were from studies that provided supportive evidence of learning outcomes through quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods approaches, taking numbers of students in the studies into account. These details are shown in Table 2. It should be noted that item 13, 'Interactive learning', was not taken forward as one of the selected 25 principles, as the details were included and integrated within other principles, notably 'Experiential learning'.

	Peda	gogic principle	Number of students	Qualitative/Quantitative
	1.	Design-based/Design	38 students	Quantitative
Thinking learning		king learning	(Ladachart et al., 2022)	
	2.	Problem-based learning	69 students	Mixed method
			(Sun et al., 2022)	Mixed methods
			68 students	
			(Aslan & Duruhan, 2021)	

 Table 2: Details of Supportive Evidence in the Literature reviewed in this Report

Peda	agogic principle	Number of students	Qualitative/Quantitative
3.	STEM toys learning	61 students	Quantitative
		(Coyle & Liben, 2020)	
4.	Group learning	44 students	Mixed methods
		(Lestari & Ariesta, 2020)	
5.	Multimedia learning	330 students	Qualitative
		(So et al., 2019)	
6.	Reflective learning	45 students	Quantitative
		(Daradoumis & Arguedas, 2020)	
7.	Collaborative Game-	98 students	Mixed methods
desi	gn learning	(Laakso et al., 2021)	
8.	Engineering design	14,015 students	Mixed methods
learr	ning	(Lottero-Perdue & Lachapelle,	
		2020)	
9.	Exploratory learning	48 students	Quantitative
		(Wu & Liu, 2022)	
10.	Simulative-based learning	40 students	Quantitative
		(Sarwoto et al., 2020)	
11.	Inquiry-based learning	43 students	Mixed methods
		(Maryani et al., 2019)	
12.	Experiential learning	288 students	Quantitative
		(Sumarmi et al., 2020)	
13.	Interactive learning	58 students	Qualitative
		(Zubiri-Esnaola, Vidu, Rios-	
		Gonzalez, & Morla-Folch, 2020)	
14.	Feedback-based learning	620 students	Quantitative
		(Maier, 2021)	
		49 students	
	<u> </u>	(Griffith et al., 2020)	Qualitative
15.	Inclusive learning	757 students	Quantitative
		(Lopez-Azuaga & Suarez Riveiro,	
10		2020)	
16.	Service learning	868 students	Quantitative
47		(Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2021)	
17.	Learning by modelling	84 students	Quantitative
		(Hutchins et al., 2020)	Quantitativa
10	Contoutual looming	38 students	Quantitative
18.	Contextual learning	(Sung et al., 2022)	
10	Digital Camo based	82 students	Mixed methods
19.		(Vob at al. 2020)	Mixed methods
lean	iiig	(Ten et al., 2020)	
20	Personalised Learning	453 students	Quantitative
20.	r ersonanseu Learning	(Thai et al. 2022)	Quantitative
21	Intercultural learning	3 schools	Qualitative
21.		(Piinponen & Karlsson, 2019)	Quantative
22	Mobile or location Game-	181 students	Quantitative
hase	d learning	(Huizenga et al. 2019)	Quantitutive
5030	a learning	(10120160 00 01., 2013)	

Peda	agogic principle	Number of students	Qualitative/Quantitative
23.	Research-based learning	36 students	Qualitative
		(Bjørkvold & Ryen, 2021)	
24.	Question-based learning	28 students	Mixed methods
		(Monrat et al., 2022)	
25.	Self-Regulated Learning	330 students	Qualitative
		(So et al., 2019)	
26.	Story-based learning	82 students	Mixed methods
		(Yeh et al., 2020)	

4.3 Relationships of pedagogic principles

From the details gathered and presented in this report, it is clear that there is no one single pedagogic principle that encompasses all others, or indeed that should be regarded as more important or prominent than any of the others. All the pedagogic principles identified have been shown to lead to specific learning outcomes. For a teacher, what is important is the range of pedagogic principles that can be known and applied. In the remainder of this report, the relationship of pedagogic principles is explored, as well as details about associated teaching practices and instructional approaches and outcomes.

It is important to note that all of these pedagogic principles are supportive of educational and learning outcomes. They are not entirely exclusive, as there are features that show relationship between and across these principles.

A "Pedagogic Principles Circuit" (Figure 2) shows how the 26 principles share certain pedagogic objectives (POs): 1) solve problems, 2) inquire, 3) collaborate, 4) interact, 5) reflect, 6) design, 7) research, and 8) link to life. To read the visual, it is necessary to look at it both horizontally and vertically. The circles show whether the PO is met by the pedagogic principle (PP) or not. The white circle means that it is not met (optional), but the black circle means that it is met (mandatory). As a result, the white optional circle might be met if needed, but the black circle must be met by the PP. In addition, the grey squares resemble the 26 PPs. To read the circuit, you can: 1) start with the PP name, and then follow the arrow to know the position of the square that it resembles, 2) follow the circles that are perpendicular on that square to see the mandatory and optional POs that belong to that PP, 3) look horizontally to the left to know the PO name next to the black circle, and 4) look horizontally to see the other PPs that share the same PO by following the squares, and then the arrows to know the names of the PPs that have black circles. For example, design-based learning has certain mandatory POs: 1) solve problems, 2) collaborate, 3) interact, and 4) design. With respect to the PO "interact", we can find all the other PPs share that same PO. However, with respect to the PO "research", we find that the only PPs that share the same PO are simulated learning and research-based learning. The teacher can use this bird's-eye-view visual to orchestrate between the 26 PPs and their objectives in an innovative way by considering and applying the strength of each.



Figure 2: Pedagogic Principles Circuit

Table 3 shows another way of viewing the relationships between the pedagogic principles and the pedagogic objectives.

Talala O. Dalatianalat	f D l ! - D - !	attal a sub- no al a sub- ta	
Table 3: Relationshi	n of Pedagogic Prin	ciples to Pedagogic	Unlectives
			00100011000

			Peda	agogic Obj	ectives			
	Solve Problem	Inquire	Collaborate	Interact	Reflect	Design	Research	Link to Life
Pedagogic Principles		_		_		_		
Design-based/Design thinking			•			•		
learning								
Problem-based learning						•		
STEM toys learning								
Group learning			•					
Multimedia learning								
Reflective learning								
Collaborative Game-design						•		
learning								
Engineering design learning								
Exploratory learning								
Simulative-based learning								
Inquiry-based learning								
Experiential learning								
Feedback-based learning								
Inclusive learning								
Service learning								
Learning by modelling								
Contextual learning								

	Pedagogic Objectives							
	Solve Problem	Inquire	Collaborate	Interact	Reflect	Design	Research	Link to Life
Pedagogic Principles								
Digital Game-based learning								
Personalised learning								
Intercultural learning								
Mobile or location game-								
based learning								
Research-based learning								
Question-based learning		-						
Self-regulated Learning								
Story-based learning								

Кеу	
Mandatory objective	Optional objective

Figure 3 also shows relationships between pedagogic principles and pedagogic objectives. For each pedagogic principle, the symbols below show the list of eight pedagogic objectives. Some of these are coloured, and some are not coloured (they remain white). For each pedagogic principle, it is possible to consider all pedagogic objectives when designing lessons and activities. However, some pedagogic objectives have been shown through research to be essential if pedagogic outcomes are to be achieved. Those essential elements are coloured; those should always be considered when planning lessons and activities. The other white-coloured pedagogic objectives are optional; they can be considered and included, they may offer additional opportunities for student engagement and learning outcomes, but they are not essential for pedagogic outcomes associated with that principle.

A "Pedagogic Principles Blender" (Figure 3) shows how the 26 PPs share 8 POs: 1) solve problems, 2) inquire, 3) collaborate, 4) interact, 5) reflect, 6) design, 7) research, and 8) link to life. Each PO has a certain icon that it resembles (shown below the figure, Figure 3). For example, the PO "reflect" is resembled by a triangle. When the triangle is coloured, that means that the PO is mandatory, but when it is white, it means that it is optional. Each PP has the 8 POs underneath it; when coloured, that means that the PO should be met by the PP, and when white, then it is optional. For example, problem-based learning includes three POs - "solve problem", "interact", and "design" that are coloured - so they should be met by that PP, while the rest are optional. By observing the coloured PO, the teacher can know which PPs share the same objectives. The teacher can use this bird's-eye-view visual to orchestrate between the 26 PPs and their objectives in an innovative way by applying the strength of each.



Figure 3: Pedagogic Principles Blender

4.4 Using the literature review evidence to support teachers and teacher

professional development

Ways to use this literature review evidence with teachers and for teacher professional development need to explore further, and discussions and decisions about these are beyond the scope of this report. However, as an example, one way to use might be to:

- Select the pedagogic outcome you would like to focus on from the "Pedagogic Principles Circuit" that is shown in Section 3.3.
- Consider the range of pedagogic principles shown on the "Pedagogic Principles Circuit" that relate to this pedagogic outcome and select those that would appear to offer appropriate teaching and learning ideas for activities with students.
- Explore the details relevant to each of those pedagogic principles that are listed in Section 4, the 'Teaching practices. Plan activities using these details.
- Also explore the details relevant to those pedagogic principles that are listed in Section 5, the 'Instructional approaches and outcomes', in order to consider how the activities, focus on what you the teacher and what the students can 'do'.

5. Phase 2: Teaching practices

_		
_		

5.1 Teaching practices related to each of the pedagogic principles

The second phase of the literature review identified, for each of the pedagogic principles, the teaching practices that were described in the studies. In the following sub-sections, for each pedagogic principle, teaching practices and objectives are listed. The study sources are shown below each list of teaching practice details.

5.1.1 Design-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students to reach the following objectives:
 - Create designs
 - o Evaluate outcomes
 - Generate reasons
 - o Test ideas
 - o Analyse results
 - Generalise results
 - Connect to big ideas
- Connecting learning content to the design challenge and the DBL process to make it more interesting and attractive to students.
- Moderating the complexity of the design challenges during iteration.
- Combining passive listening and hands-on experimentation activities
- Using modern technologies/kits (e.g., Lego-Logo, Lego NXT kits, Scratch, Raspberry Pi, Lilypad) that engage children, triggering their curiosity and building up their enthusiasm.
- Structuring materials and resources (e.g., instructional worksheets) to motivate students and trigger their interest and curiosity in the topics covered.
- Involving various stakeholders (e.g., those with external businesses as clients, involving professionals as experts, and consulting intended users).
- Setting a feasible project time constraint, considering the complexity of the design challenge and the checkpoints during the project.

(Zhang, Markopoulos, & Bekker, 2020) (Gómez Puente, Van Eijck, & Jochems, 2013)

5.1.2 Problem-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students to reach the following objectives:
 - o Identifying needs or a problem
 - Researching needs or problem
 - Developing possible solution
 - Selecting the best possible solution
 - Constructing a prototype
 - Testing and evaluating the solution
 - Communicating the solution
 - Redesigning the solution
 - Completing the solution

(Sun et al., 2022) (Aslan & Duruhan, 2021)

5.1.3 STEM toys:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Play preparation
- Dyadic play
- Post dyadic play

(Coyle & Liben, 2020)

5.1.4 Group learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Engaging students in a set of classroom activities in which students work in groups in a coordinated way to solve a given problem
- Sharing ideas and consider the most appropriate response

(Lestari & Ariesta, 2020)

5.1.5 Multimedia learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Forethought phase: plan for students to make use of texts, dialog cartoons, statistics tables, and tools for communicating to diagnose or share their prior knowledge, set goals, and develop interest.
- **Performance phase**: plan for students to get engaged in activities involving graphics, animations, games, and simulation experiments to learn about scientific knowledge and inquiry processes. Tools involving information processing, organizing, and data collecting are provided for them to better regulate, monitor, or record their learning.
- Self-reflection phase: plan for students to complete quizzes to assess their learning. The use of emoticons as positive feedback may increase their satisfaction during the self-assessment process. Tools for asking and discussing or summarizing and conceptualizing are offered to assist students in better conceptualizing what they observed or experienced in the performance phase.

(So et al., 2019)

5.1.6 Reflective learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for students to reflect on the way they learn
- Plan for students to reflect on the learning strategies they use
- Plan for students to reflect on the way these strategies have influenced their learning
- Plan for students to review the tasks they have carried out, to think about how they have performed in them, and ultimately how and what they have learned..

(Daradoumis & Arguedas, 2020)

5.1.7 Collaborative game-design learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for creating a story-based context
- Plan for guiding practices of creativity strategies
- Plan for using varied types of challenging tasks
- Plan for giving constructive feedback for answers
- Plan for giving free choices of game order and gifts
- Plan for providing immediate feedback regarding obtained scores
- Plan for giving verbal encouragement for performance
- Plan for asking students to do peer evaluation of their creativity designs

(Laakso et al., 2021)

5.1.8 Engineering design learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for students to focus their attention on problematic areas of their potential solutions while doing effective diagnostic troubleshooting.
- Plan for students to iterate accordingly as they make improvements based on feedback.
- Plan for students to recognize and analyse design failures, use them to improve the design, and try again

(Lottero-Perdue & Lachapelle, 2020)

5.1.9 Exploratory learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- **First stage**: Plan for students to participate in inquiry learning, asked questions, and reflect on problems to solve them through discussion with others use the knowledge they had gained.
- **Second stage**: Plan for students to participate in simulated learning activities and engage in role-play activities.
- **Third stage**: Plan for students to identify similarities and differences. The students also participate in peer evaluation.
- **Fourth stage**: Plan for students to learn simple programming and use various technological tools
- **Fifth stage**: Plan for students to record what they had learned, share their experiences, and reflect on their feelings during the process.
- Plan for folding time into learning processes since differentiation and variation happen over time. Plan
- Plan for folding place into the learning process to encounter real events and avoid the expected processes of the already known.
- Plan for folding in movement by blurring the school subjects and work with interdisciplinary and real-life projects.
- Plan for folding the body and the senses in learning situations, thus creating effective learning situations.
- Plan for folding combinations of working methods to examine and disturb habitual ways of thinking.

(Wu & Liu, 2022) (Hellman & Lind, 2021)

5.1.10 Simulative-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students to reach the following objectives:
 - Observing activities to identify things they want to know
 - Formulating questions and hypotheses
 - Collecting data with various techniques
 - Associating/analysing/processing data (information)
 - Drawing conclusions
 - Communicating the results which consist of conclusions to obtain knowledge, skills, and attitudes

(Sarwoto et al., 2020) (Pellas, Mystakidis, & Kazanidis, 2021

5.1.11 Inquiry-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for creating a peer environment focusing on physical skills.
- Plan for the implementation of a learning strategy that allows interaction and working with peers to ensure the development of social personality for the students
- Plan for the formulation of activities with emphasis on providing concrete or immediate experiences in building concept
- Plan for the application of value-developing learning process to ensure the students are self-reliant and independent

(Maryani et al., 2019)

5.1.12 Experiential learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students that include:
 - Stages of real experience
 - Stages of reflection observation
 - Stages of conceptualization
 - Stages of implementation
- Creating a social situation which facilitates students' engagement in the learning activity.
- Providing necessary learning support throughout the lessons.
- Ensuring equitable student access to resources and learning opportunities.
- Forming pairs based on learners' knowledge, learning characteristics, and behaviours.

(Sumarmi et al., 2020) (Cheng, Hwang, & Chen, 2019) (Falloon, 2019)

5.1.13 Feedback-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for expressing the merits and faults of learners' work
- Plan for allowing learners to see areas for improvements and progress already made

(Maier, 2021) (Griffith et al., 2020)

5.1.14 Inclusive learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- focusing on all learners, where learning opportunities are available to everyone, so that students participate in classroom life
- Considering difference as an ordinary aspect of human development, and this includes differences of gender, disability, special educational needs, ethnicity, class, immigration status, sexuality, etc
- Considering diversity to be accepted as a natural and inevitable circumstance with which we must learn to work, tailoring our teaching to the needs of heterogeneous groups.
- Avoiding practices that involve comparison, ranking or labelling, and beliefs about fixed abilities
- Adopting a "personalized" approach to teaching and learning where teachers adapt approaches and resources to each individual learner's needs
- Ensuring a balance between on-going formative assessment and summative assessment, as part of everyday classroom practice
- Including targeted goals, alternative routes for learning, and flexible instruction Plan
- Including cooperative and dialogic activities
- Including collaborative problem-solving as an effective strategy to promote inclusion. Plan
- Providing structured instruction/teaching (i.e., sequences with clear goals, identifying critical aspects of the subject in focus, mentoring, follow-up on the learners' understanding, summaries, synthesis, and repetition)
- Providing meta-cognitive strategies (i.e., the methods of studying, learning, building on the principles of organising an assignment for self-learning, self-evaluation, support from a partner, repetition, and memorising, formulating goals, and planning for future learning).
- Providing instructional practices.
- Providing organisational practices.
- Providing collaboration and teamwork activities.
- Providing social, emotional, and behavioural practices.

(López-Azuaga & Suárez Riveiro, 2020) (Kefallinou, Symeonidou, & Meijer, 2020) (Finkelstein, Sharma, & Furlonger, 2021)

5.1.15 Service learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Creating norms and teaching social skills to create a sense of community and prepare for collaborative work.
- Teaching the privileges and responsibilities that come with being an engaged citizen of their community.
- Enacting lessons to teach active listening, respectful communication, and respect for multiple perspectives.
- Launching lessons that guide students to discuss and debate using their newly acquired social skills.
- Assessing students' science learning in this step.
- Designing activities for students to work together to propose solutions.
- Using lessons to help students understand different ways their class can make a difference in the world.
- Designing activities for students to plan a project.
- Designing activities for students to implement the project.
- Planning for assessing the impact of their project.
- Designing activities for students to reflect on:
 - New knowledge and the service-learning process experience, lessons focused on social and emotional skills are interspersed throughout so that students learn the skills needed to communicate effectively, work together with others on a project, reflect and make decisions, and resolve conflicts that arise.
- Recruiting and collaborating with community members throughout the development and enactment of the service project.
- Relying on student voice at every step.
- Strengthening students' relationships with the community.
- Allowing students to actively engage in solving real-world needs and to take time for critical reflection.

(Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2021) (Gartland, 2021) (Resch & Schrittesser, 2021)

5.1.16 Learning by modelling:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students that include:
 - Organising and converting knowledge of concepts into computational structures that can be executed to generate model behaviours.
 - Doing step-by-step execution linked to animations of model behaviour and plots of variable values as a function of time
 - Providing scaffolds for interpreting and understanding the modelled phenomena.

(Hutchins et al., 2020)

5.1.17 Contextual learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Presenting contexts or storyline (Show the background story)
- Conceptualising the contexts (Present the core concepts)
- Making connections (Conduct learning tasks for connecting the concepts and storylines)
- Practicing and reflecting (Conduct test and provide feedback)
- Integrating science content with other content and areas of expertise
- Undertaking activities that will guide students toward discovery
- Selecting and adapting curriculum

(Sung et al., 2022) (Dewi & Primayana, 2019) (Suryawati & Osman, 2018) (Glynn & Winter, 2004)

5.1.18 Digital game-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Plan for students to themselves design and draw all the characters and environments in their games
- Plan for students to themselves construct the scripts
- Plan for students to themselves design and create sounds
- Plan for students to themselves program the entire game as a functional system

(Yeh et al., 2020)

5.1.19 Story-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Using of story scenario, videos, and animations (to increase fun and motivation)
- Scaffolding of learning (to guide practices of creativity strategies and dispositions)
- Using self-determination (free choices of game order)
- Encouraging goal setting
- Varying levels and types of challenging tasks
- Providing constructive feedback and verbal encouragement for performance
- Using observational learning (through peer evaluation of creativity design)
- Providing activities that include videos and animations (to increase fun and motivation)

(Yeh, Chang, & Ting, 2022) (Bidari, 2019) (Yeh et al., 2022)

5.1.20 Inter-cultural learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Using narrative and dialogue in curricular planning
- Using telling and listening to each other's stories to increase awareness of themselves and others
- Taking students' teaching-related wishes, problems, and criticism seriously
- Taking into consideration students' own experiences

(Piipponen & Karlsson, 2019)

5.1.21 Mobile/location game-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students that include:
 - o Collaborate with their peers or in groups
 - Navigate through the environments
 - Engage with game elements, such as the mission, characters, and story
 - Use mobile devices with wireless network connections, cameras, RFID readers and GPS (expands learning with games from the screen to learning in a mixedreality environment using urban spaces as a game board.
- Provides a guiding, supervisory roles, and later discussed the critical notion of teachers 'releasing control' to encourage students' independent learning, allowing them "to explore, make mistakes, and learn from them; all this, while they are out of the classroom's walls
- Designing tasks that were highly authentic and meaningful for students such as a visit to a biotic drink factory where students learned about the presence of good bacteria and how it travels through their digestive systems.
- Delivering less content and provides more learning tasks related to the environment

(Huizenga et al., 2019) (Burden, Kearney, Schuck, & Hall, 2019) (Chung, Hwang, & Lai, 2019)

5.1.22 Personalised-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- A teaching portion that provides a brief overview of the game, the problem-scenario, and instructions on the mathematics content needed to successfully solve the problem or complete the presented task.
- A teaching portion that explains the content and tells students which actions to take.
- Scaffolding to provide help for students while working.
- Using scaffolding mechanism to enable each student to have a completely personalized experience, tailored precisely to his or her "ready to learn" level and learning pace.
- Relying on technology, using computer programs to tailor curriculum sequencing, pacing, and presentation to students' unique needs, interests, and abilities as learners.
- Tailoring the curriculum and instruction to students' individual needs and interests as learners.
- Using knowledge of students' capabilities and curiosities to determine the pace, style, and content of curriculum for each individual student.
- Partnering with students who have an increased ownership of their education to design learning experiences that suit students' individual interests, skills, and aspirations.
- Organising activities that include questions that students see as important to their lives," suggesting students have choice and volition in the questions they pursue within personalized learning environments.

(Thai et al., 2022) (Netcoh, 2017)

5.1.23 Research-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students that include:
 - Posing their own research questions with their own hypotheses
 - Inquiring into them systematically
 - Collecting data
 - Analysing their findings
 - o Sharing or presenting their research before a real audience

• Reinforcing concepts throughout subsequent inquiry lessons.

(Bjørkvold & Ryen, 2021) (Akerson, Carter, Pongsanon, & Nargund-Joshi, 2019)

5.1.24 Self-regulated learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Diagnosing students' learning needs
 - Formulating learning goals
 - Identifying human and material resources for learning
 - Choosing and implementing appropriate learning strategies
 - Evaluating students' learning outcomes
- Providing smart learning environments that provided a mechanism for selecting or defining goals to developed skills, improve performance, or defining activities to be achieved in a learning process
- Providing a smart learning environment to provide a mechanism for planning activities before performing on them.
- Providing a smart learning environment to monitor the time spent on learning, assessment, or planning.
- Providing self-assessment, games, and reflective quizzes.
- Using a tool that provides a mechanism to compare learner's performance with their classmates.
- Using interactivity tools to resend the information to the learners about their learning progress and performances
- Creating routines and participation structure
- Positioning all members as learners
- Illuminating connection between strategic action and outcomes
- Providing iterative cycles of learning and long-term learning activities
- Giving appropriately challenging tasks
- Taking learners' heterogeneous characteristics into consideration, including their: level of ability; affective factors (e.g., emotions); interests and needs; and learning engagement
- Providing a personalised learning experience
- Making learning more convenient for learners
- Providing suitable and personalised learning contents
- Creating a personalised profile on learners' learning records
- Providing assessment based on learners' learning profiles
- Making use of learning analytics driven educational technologies
- Enabling easy access to and user-friendly operation of the systems by users
- Allowing access to learning materials anytime anywhere.

(So et al., 2019) (Gambo & Shakir, 2021) (Callan, Longhurst, Ariotti, & Bundock, 2021) (Li & Wong, 2021)

5.1.25 Question-based learning:

In this pedagogic principle, teaching practices include the following:

- Designing activities for students that include:
 - Using open-ended questions beginning with what, why, or how to:
 - Interpreting, analysing, evaluating, making decisions, and explaining information based on reasoning
 - o Making Inferences
 - Recognising assumptions
 - $\circ \quad \text{Making deductions} \quad$
 - Interpreting data
 - o Evaluating arguments

5.2 Relating teaching practices to the pedagogic principles

The forms of teaching practices in the literature are concerned with five separate categories:

- 1. Integrating technology (e.g., information processing tools, monitors tools)
- 2. Designing activities (e.g., connect to big ideas, test ideas, construct a prototype)
- 3. Integrating affective components (e.g., use of emotions as positive feedback, reflect on feelings)
- 4. Including external stakeholders (e.g., collaborating with community members, visiting factories)
- 5. Including cultural component (e.g., consider students' cultural experiences, considering students' differences in culture)

All of the 25 PPs are expected to include all five categories. However, after analysing the literature, it was found that some were mandatory and others were optional. For example:

- In design-based thinking and learning, most of the five categories were included, except for the cultural component.
- In feedback-based learning, only the design component was included.

Table 4 shows the mandatory and optional categories related to each pedagogic principle.

 Table 4: Relationship of Pedagogic Principles to Teaching Practices

	Teaching Practices				
	Technology	Design	Affective	External	Cultural
		Activities	component	Stakeholder	component
Pedagogic Principles					
Design-based/Design thinking learning					
Problem-based learning					
STEM toys learning		•			
Group learning		•			
Multimedia learning			•		
Reflective learning					
Collaborative game-design learning					
Engineering design learning		•			
Exploratory learning		•			
Simulative-based learning					
Inquiry-based learning					

	Teaching Practices				
	Technology	Design Activities	Affective component	External Stakeholder	Cultural component
Pedagogic Principles					
Experiential learning		•	-	•	
Feedback-based learning					
Inclusive learning					
Service learning					
Learning by modelling					
Contextual learning					
Digital game-based learning					
Personalised learning	-		•		
Intercultural learning					
Mobile or location game-based	•				
learning					
Research-based learning					
Question-based learning					
Self-Regulated learning					
Story-based learning					

Кеу	
Mandatory practice	Optional practice

6. Phase 3: Instructional approaches and outcomes



6.1 Instructional approaches and outcomes related to each of the pedagogic principles

The third phase of the literature review identified, for each of the pedagogic principles, the instructional approaches and outcomes that were described in the studies. In the following sub-sections, for each pedagogic principle, instructional approaches are listed in the first table. The instructional approaches are further analysed into those considered 'high level' and those considered 'low level'. Below the details of instructional approaches, the learning outcomes are listed for that particular pedagogic principle. The study sources are shown below each list of details of instructional approaches.

6.1.1 Design-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
 Acts as a coach, enabling the student to make the transition from a passive to an active learner. 	 Gives students open-ended activities with enough flexibility for learning. The activities are:
 Gives students materials and resources that: a. involves hands-on techniques, tools, and materials for 	 authentic (real-life scenarios) for positioning the design challenge and arriving at a solution.
b. involves minds-on tools and materials for design documentation and visualization during the empathizing, ideating, or defining phases	 connect multidisciplinary, enabling students to learn and connect multidisciplinary knowledge and skills. c. should involve the design process/skills, enabling students to acquire new
Groups students in:	knowledge and skills.
 A social environment that is student-centred, fostering a sense of responsibility in students whenever they perform tasks individually or in a small group. 	
 A social interaction that should enable co-creation where the student can communicate and collaborate with peers and even with stakeholders. 	

High Level	Low Level
Creates a climate in which mistakes and	
failures are accepted to trigger curiosity	
in students.	
 Regulates the amount of support so 	
that students feel independent about	
their learning	
• Shows interest in students'	
achievements (e.g., their design ideas,	
designs created, and progress in	
projects).	
Helps students draw links between	
their tasks and the design challenge.	
 Moderates peer feedback moments, to 	
enable students to listen and accept	
peer critique and feedback.	
 Provides emotional regulation support 	
for children, especially during	
iterations.	
Creates a comfortable atmosphere	
within groups.	
Cultivates students' sense of	
responsibility and encourage them to	
volunteer to offer help to peers.	
Guides the apprentice by modelling the	
reasoning thinking as expert engineers	
perform the problem analysis in a task	
 Provokes students with questions. 	
Models the inquiry thinking	
 Encourages the reflection process and 	
have students explore their reasoning	
modes	
• Supports students to build knowledge	
in a discipline and develop gradually	
self-directness and process-oriented	
instruction.	
• Coaches on task, process, and self	
Challenges students by asking	
questions	
 Scaffolds by using of rubrics, hands- 	
outs, and worksheets	
Gives just-in-time teaching or lecture-	
by-demand strategy	
Acts as consultant	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Produce creative products	
- Be mindfulness of the process	
- Make impact on other people	
- Think critically thinking	
 Solve problems 	

High Level	Low Level
Communicate	

Collaborate

(Zhang et al., 2020) (Gómez Puente et al., 2013)

6.1.2 Problem-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
Guides rather than conveys information	Asks students to analyse their options
 Facilitates the group's work and 	and decide on an action or a decision.
internal communication	 Asks students to debrief by discussing
• Distributes worksheets, leads	not only the content they have learned
discussions, or help students determine	and how it may be useful in new
how to search necessary information.	situations but also the processes
 Provides verbal support and ask 	involved in solving the problem
questions to advance observation,	
comparison, and the interpretation of	
data, as well as the deduction and	
verification of hypotheses and	
arguments.	
 Offers guidance to keep the 	
investigative process going in a positive	
learning direction.	
 Engages students by presenting the 	
problem.	
 Explains the roles 	
 Determines what information students 	
already know, what information they	
need to know, and how best to acquire	
this information.	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
 Be mindful of the process 	
 Make impact on other people 	
 Develop the 21st Century skills 	
- Solve problems	
 Gain problem solving skills 	
- Acquire digital equity	
- Acquire mental wellness	
(De Graaff & Kolmos, 2003) (Mer	ritt, Lee, Rillero, & Kinach, 2017)

6.1.3 STEM toys:

High Level	Low Level
 Proposes ill-structured problems by 	Asks students to:
creating situations	 Generate and plan design ideas
 Proposes ill-structured problems 	to build artefacts such as tower
through the creation of situations and	 Build prototypes successfully
guides the students to construct their	for proof of design idea
own problems step by step.	 Build the artefact
 Refers to the card records of the 	collaboratively with peers
students' written or drawn solutions in	

High Level			Low Level
order to understand th	eir individual	0	Observe how peers create
science performance, p	problem-solving		prototypes
ability, and the ability to employ		0	Observe how peers create
effective strategies		:	sketches to plan for design of
Helps students in this p	process by		the artefact
guiding them through s	specific steps to	0	Work with the team to design
clearly understand the	key points of the		and build a functional artefact
problems		0	Unpack requirements and
Observes and interven	es to improve		constraints via oral discussion.
students' thinking		0	Start to construct an artifact.
Monitors the students	to be able to	0	Test and modify their solutions.
help them.		0	Exchange their ideas with other
Involves in the children	's game, in	:	students, prompting them to
order to guide, reinford	e and deepen		also express themselves.
them and then connect	t previous	0	Choose what kind of
experiences or create r	new ones, which		play/activity they want to do,
are interconnected wit	h the specific		what objects to choose, with
goals of a structured ac	ctivity or a		whom and for as long as they
developmental activity	plan		want within the rules of class
Creates activities that r	natch students'		and the schedule in or outside
level of abilities, create	scenarios,		school, at home or elsewhere.
socialize, reflect, under	take roles,		
improvise, have fun, le	arn, explore,		
experiment and throug	h these activities		
comprehensively evolv	e.		
Outcomes: Students are able t	0:		
- Complete games	- Imagine		- Connect concepts
- Acquire mechanical	- Think collaboratively		- Integrate concepts
learning	- Have empathy		- Critique ideas
- Be creative	- Listen		- Use social
- Apply inquisitive	- Dialogue		conversation
tninking	- Expressi	ng a /a nini ar a /i-la a i	- USE SOCIAI
- Apply inventiveness	emotion	s/opinions/ideas	understanding
- vvork in teams	- interroga	ate information	
- experiment (Zbou of al. 2017)	(V Li Huang lian	a & Change 2016)	(Komis at al. 2021)

6.1.4 Group learning:

High Level	Low Level
Fosters positive student interaction	
 Diagnoses the progress of the group 	
and intervenes when necessary	
 Provides adequate teacher guidance. 	
 Identifies problems in time and do not 	
intervene adequately	
• Stimulates elaborate explanations (e.g.,	
explaining a concept by giving	
High Level	Low Level
--	------------------
arguments instead of merely providing	
the correct answer)	
 Offers compliments and support to 	
groups of students	
 Composing the collaborating groups 	
and preparing them for the	
collaborative task.	
Acts as a reference or a role model for	
students by demonstrating how to	
interact with group members	
 Stimulates students to explain their 	
ideas to each other and to ask follow-	
up questions that deepen the group	
discussion	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Gain social skills	
(van Leeuwen 8	k Janssen, 2019)

6.1.5 Multimedia learning:

High Level	Low Level
 Triggers, maintains, energizes, or revitalize individual engagement in the learning process. 	 Provides activities that target: selecting related words and images for transmitting to working memory organizing selected information to build a cognitive structure in working memory integrating cognitive structures with learners and with prior knowledge that comes from long-term memory
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Learn independently	
 Get engaged in the learning process 	
(J. Li, Antonenko, & Wang, 20	19) (Coskun & Cagiltay, 2022)

6.1.6 Reflective learning:

High Level	Low Level
	 Provides activities for giving and receiving feedback Provides activities for considering and acknowledging students' own learning progress and achievements Provides activities for critical thinking on an existing technology or a societal issue

High Level	Low Level
	 Provides activities for reflecting on
	ideation and making process.
	 Provides activities for reflecting on
	challenges faced when generating and
	elaborating ideas with teammates
	 Provides activities for reflection on
	students' own as well as others' design
	or making processes
	 Provides activities for presenting
	students' work, sharing ideas with
	other teams and finding out what they
	think is considered as important as
	reflecting on your own design practice
	 Provides activities for reflecting on
	their learning process and learning
	gains, either by reflecting on their
	metacognition (e.g., how to achieve
	predefined learning goals) or on their
	skill (a g appress in acquiring a new
	skill (e.g., operating laser cutter, SD
	 Provides activities for examining and
	 Fronces activities for examining and reflecting on students' own progression
	in learning when figuring out how to
	solve a problem or change perspective
	when using a science model.
	 Provides activities for revisiting
	students' project and reflecting on the
	reason behind a technical breakdown
	that caused an issue
	 Provides activities for reflecting about
	the impact of existing technologies on
	lives and society at large
	 Provides activities concerned with
	introspection and self-awareness about
	one's mental states and emotions (e.g.,
	reflecting on self-image or on feelings
	of frustration when stuck) activities
	opportunity for self- evaluation where
	students learn by trial or error which
	can evoke strong emotions (e.g. when
	faced with failure or challenging
	situation).
	 Provides activities for qualitative
	reflections on learning where students
	can record a video describing these
	moments and explore strategies to get
	"unstuck"

High Level	Low Level
	 Provides activities for the exploration of students' own emotions when concerned about their self-image in front of their peers when their design does not work properly or integrating identity exploration into design activities with graduate students who are trained to become educators.
Outcomes: Students are able to:	

- Meditate on how new knowledge has been acquired
- Analyse which new cognitive and emotional skills were revealed and used to manage their emotions,
- Enhance their holistic development
- Get engaged in the learning process
- Connect to real life

(Baykal, Van Mechelen, Wagner, & Eriksson, 2021)

6.1.7 Collaborative game-design learning:

High Level	Low Level
High Level• Provides support in the "Pre-Game" by:a. Game play training: Gameplay demonstrations and practiceb. Lecturing: Curriculum content and game content• Provides support in the "Game" by: a. Scaffolding: Scaffolding content and problem-solving (Doing: High Level)b. Managing the classroom: Giving instructions, timekeeping, seating arrangements, and keeping students on task (Doing: High Level)c. Providing technical support:	 Low Level Gives handouts: Guides, questions, and problems to be solved
 Provides support in "Post-Game" by: a. Debriefing: Discussion and reflection 	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
 Practice multimodal knowledge (Orienting, interpreting, concretizing, and Share knowledge Improve practice Participate in socio-digital tasks 	expanding knowledge)

- Share epistemic objects and artifacts
- Apply collective learning
- Connect to real life

Instructional Approach: (Bado, 2022)

6.1.8 Engineering design learning:

High Level	Low Level
Provides direct instructions	Provides different kinds of activities
(PowerPoint presentations and	that include:
Blackboard) and brainstorming	 defining the problem, planning
activities.	possible solutions, choosing the
	possible solution, designating,
	testing, redesigning, and
	communicating
	 planning and reflecting
	\circ analysing, problem-solving, and
	creating solutions to problems
	 identifying criteria, generating
	ideas, and evaluating
	 constructing, testing,
	redesigning, and reviewing
	 investigating possible solutions,
	creating, testing, analysing, and
	optimising
	 improving models
	 developing a plan
	 articulating multiple solutions,
	evaluating, selecting solutions,
	retelling the performance of
	the solution, analysing
	solutions, and improving
	 Identifying and investigating
	the problem,
	drawing/sketching possible
	ideas, choosing the best
	possible solutions, designing,
	testing, evaluating, and
	communicating
	o brainstorning, experimenting,
	redesigning, building,
	ouestions conducting
	investigations analysing and
	reflecting
	 identifying problems gathering
	information modelling and
	analysing notential solutions
	nrototyning testing and
	prototyping, testing, and

High Level	Low Level
	analysing prototype
	performance
	\circ designing invention, testing
	design, achieving the
	functionality of the invention,
	and collaborating
	 building contrasting cases,
	asking, imagining, planning,
	creating, and improving
	 brainstorming
	 explaining the need,
	characterizing the need,
	generating concepts, selecting
	a concept, embodying the
	concept, testing and
	evaluating, finalizing and
	sharing the design, reflecting
	on the design process
	 carrying out investigations
	 quantifying the need,
	engineering the concept,
	embodying the concept,
	implementing the design, and
	finalizing the design.
	 Provides different kinds of activities
	such as writing activities (workbooks,
	design sketches, recommendations,
	data tables), reading activities (reading
	paragraphs), inquiry-based activities
	(paper-based information sources,
	internet-based information sources),
	laboratory activities (experiments and
	observations), simulations activities
	(Google Sketch up, SEED, WISE, WPBD
	program), play-based learning activities
	(Toys activities), outdoor learning
	activities (outdoor observation), and
	trial and error activities (randomised
	activities, LEGO).
	 Provides activities that imply a picture
	in which students convey their design
	solutions.
	Provides activities that involve building
	a two- or three-dimensional design
	product.
	Provides activities that involve
	experimenting outcomes of the
	product

High Level	Low Level
	 Provides activities that involve an iterative process following the analysis of the test results.
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
 Build a growth mindset 	
 comprehend life science knowledge 	
 Understand the problem-solving process. 	
- Have collective cognitive responsibility	
(Winarno et al., 2020)) (Arık & Topçu, 2022)

6.1.9 Exploratory learning:

	· · ·
High Level	Low Level
 Instructs to investigate the place as archaeologists or crime detectives, organising a display with found objects from the place, then arranging, and photographing them. 	 Provides activities for working with difference and repetition as a creative method to fold, unfold, and actualise/materialise the subject of learning, which creates new ideas and questions. Provides activities for choosing a place that the student had a personal relation to and investigating it visually through drawing, photographing, collecting found objects, observing, and writing about the place. Provides activities for training the effects of different exploratory tools, including their own body's movements in and between various environments and visual art materials. Provides activities for investigating the selected place physically and materially on location using exploratory questions. Provides activities for analysing and locating discourses, as in ways of looking at the place, and then challenging the dominant ways of seeing the place by creating antitype or atypical images of it, challenging dominant ways of seeing. Provides activities for presented students' visual and material explorations in a digital portfolio. Provides activities for folding, unfolding, and differentiating for making connections.

Outcomes: Students are able to:

- Think creatively
- Solve problems

(Hellman & Lind, 2021)

6.1.10 Simlative-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
 Introduces a virtual reality Gives an orientation about the lesson Trains the students to provide the appropriate feedback 	 Provides activities and presentations Plan Provides educational games, field trips, and role-play Plan
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
 Connect real-life phenomena and the unc 	lerlying science
 investigate causal relationships and scient 	tific questions
 Gain conceptual understanding 	
 Think creatively 	
- Solve problems	
(Pellas, Mystakidis,	& Kazanidis. 2021

6.1.11 Inquiry-based learning:

 Focuses on thinking skills Promotes a culture of inquiry Guides inquiry discourse Makes students familiar with the
 Promotes a culture of inquiry Guides inquiry discourse Makes students familiar with the
 Guides inquiry discourse Makes students familiar with the
Makes students familiar with the
nature of science
Provides information on the research topic
Focuses on conceptual understanding
 Bridges the gap between high and low achievers
Organises student learning in groups
Focuses on collaboration processes
Outcomes: Students are able to:
- Gain understanding
- Construct knowledge
- Think creatively
- Solve problems
(Dobber, Zwart, Tanis, & van Oers, 2017)

6.1.12 Experiential learning:

High Level	Low Level
Provides some supplementary learning	
materials	
 Prompts the teams to accomplish the 	
learning tasks based on their learning	
portfolio	
 Encourages children to explain their 	
thoughts and actions and offer	
explanations that give insights into	
their developing thinking	
 Provides introduction to each lesson 	
 Opens questions and prompts for 	
students to review prior learning	
 Provides direct instruction to clarify 	
emerging misconceptions	
 Evaluates students' capacity to link 	
conceptually to their content and	
ensures that how concepts are	
represented or may be interpreted by	
students, minimises the chance of	
misconceptions.	
Facilitates simulations in the same way	
they facilitate experiments with	
physical equipment, and not assume	
they are standalone resources	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Have disaster education abilities	
- Think critically	
- Gain real-life experiences	
- Solve problems	9) (Falloon 2010)

6.1.13 Feedback-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
• Provides feedback that can be aimed at	
the self, task, process, and regulation	
levels. Feedback that is aimed at the	
level of self does not relate to the task	
performed but instead relates to	
characteristics of the learner.	
 Provides feedback for praising the 	
students, for example, "You are a	
fantastic student!"	
 Provides feedback for praising the 	
students at the task level performs a	
corrective function.	
 Provides feedback for praising the 	
students at the process level that	

High Level	Low Level
addresses the process that was	
followed to complete the task.	
Provides feedback for regulation level	
that is related to students' self-	
regulation	
 Intervenes—provides feedback—when 	
there is a misunderstanding	
Gives encouraging feedback to their	
pupils, and close collaboration between	
schools and homes is expected	
 Gives realistic and process-targeted 	
feedback that may help to strengthen a	
pupil's feelings of competence in the	
learning process.	
 Motivates and engages students in the 	
face of growing learning demands.	
• Gives little feedback to promote self-	
directed learning, but instead answer	
students' questions.	
 Acts as directive or facilitative. 	
 Provides directive feedback to tell the 	
student what needs to be revised and	
how.	
 Provides facilitative feedback with 	
suggestions that students can use in	
their own revision of their work	
 Focuses on feedback related to the task 	
 Focuses on feedback related to social 	
learning	
 Prompts evaluation and reflection by 	
students	
Gives specific and clear feedback	
 Provides feedback that can be focused 	
on student planning	
 Provides feedback that focuses on goal- 	
directedness	
 Provides positive feedback 	
 Provides criticism in a positive way 	
 Enhances student self-confidence 	
through feedback	
 Activates students to work and think 	
Provides feedback with clear directions	
that includes hints or suggestions	
Answers questions and gives	
information	
Provides feedback that stimulates and	
challenges students	
Provides assistance while searching for	
solutions	

High Level	Low Level
 Coaches and guides students 	
 Provides feedback that is tuned to 	
individual students	
 Assesses student prior knowledge and needs first 	
Checks students work	
 Creates a good relationship with students 	
 Provides feedback that can be focused on keeping order and rules 	
 Makes sure students can proceed after giving them feedback 	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Improve their work	
 Be prepared for next times 	
 Deconstruct feedback 	
 Feel ownership of their work 	
 Get engaged in tasks 	
- Gain Knowledge	
 Get engaged in cognitive and motor skills 	outcomes
(Van der Kleij, Feskens, & Eggen, 2015) (Kuusimäki, Uusitalo, & Tirri, 2021) (Wang, Matsumura, &	

Correnti, 2017) (van den Bergh, Ros, & Beijaard, 2013)

6.1.14 Inclusive learning:

High Level	Low Level
 Deals with diversity in the classroom Promotes aspects of assessment for learning (i.e., formative assessment), learners taking more responsibility for their own learning, "genuine" learner voice, strong links with the community, and curricular flexibility. Encourages a growth mindset among learners and understand that individual circumstances can require additional support Monitors learner progress, develops close teacher-learner relationships, promotes positive teacher perceptions of learners, and employs fair disciplinary policies. Includes self- and peer assessment Uses heterogeneous grouping, a system of flexible and well-considered pupil grouping. Develops a culture of collaborative problem solving 	 Asks learners to work together in small learning groups, helping each other to carry out individual and group tasks" Asks learners to identify the issue, discuss all possible solutions, screen solutions, and choose and evaluate the solution

	High Level	Low Level
•	Provides formative feedback, peer	
	learning, and peer assessment	
•	Determines learners' progress	
Outco	mes: Students are able to:	
-	Participate in the organisation	
-	Plan of school activities	
-	Plan of training	
-	Work collaboratively	
(Kefallinou et al., 2020) (Finkelstein et al., 2021)		

6.1.15 Service learning:

High Level	Low Level
 Encourages students to build "flexible, adaptive, and active" networks for learning that promote a view of education that positions the student as an "active participant". This may include services in schools, social initiatives, public institutions, non-profit organisations, or facilities for the disabled. Promotes understanding of diversity and mutual respect among all participants in a community and include both 'service' and 'learning' elements Assists others, builds relationships with the invisible and voiceless, heightens awareness of diversity and difference, is able to better understand the realities of culturally and linguistically diverse children Gives more instructions at the beginning of the course and then increasingly withdraw from this instructive role to promote autonomous learning on the part of the students during the service experience. 	Asks students to work in teams on real- world problems.
- Gain social skills	
 Develop their attitudes and behaviors th 	at contribute to environmental consciousness
and action	
- Learn deeply	
(Gartland 2021) (Resu	ch & Schrittesser, 2021)

6.1.16 Learning by modelling:

Outcomes: Students are able to:

- Understand concepts
- transfer and extend concepts and problem-solving skills to new problem- solving situations
- Achieve more learning goals

(Haydon et al., 2017) (Roldán-álvarez, Martín, & Haya, 2021) (Crawford & Cullin, 2004) (Alhuzimi, 2020)

6.1.17 Contextual learning:

Hign Level	LOW LEVEI
 Collaborates with students Provides high levels of activity in lessons to connect to real world contexts Guides students undergo learning Uses teaching aids and provides authentic and challenging tasks for the students in order to increase their attention in class and directly increase their scientific attitude. Train multiple intelligences, by asking analytical questions, solving problems logically, or plan an experiment to prove something Acts as mentors or facilitators in guiding students to become more intelligent, creative, innovative Uses the following learning strategies: inquiry learning problem-based learning cooperative learning project-based learning authentic assessment Promotes self-regulated learning and addresses student diversity when teaching Evaluates students by means of their performance on tasks that are representative of activities done in relevant, real- life settings, often associated with future careers. Uses a portfolio, which is "a purposeful and representative collection of student work that conveys a story of progress, achievement and/or effort" Understands and responds to individual student's interests, strengths, experiences, and needs 	 Asks students to: Ask questions Inquire Communicate with the community Modelling Reflect Do actual research Gives students either a real or simulated problem and must use critical thinking skills to solve it Ideally, they will need to draw information from a variety of disciplines. Problems that have some personal relevance to the students are often good choices because they encourage strong participation, learning, and perseverance. Asks students to work together in small groups and focus on achieving a common goal through collaboration and with mutual respect. Each student within the group is viewed as making a significant contribution to the goal. Asks students to work independently or collaboratively on projects of personal interest. There is an emphasis on constructing realistic and valuable work products. When these projects benefit others, and have wider social relevance, they are often described as service learning.

	High Level	Low Level
•	Focuses on student understanding and	
	use of scientific knowledge, ideas, and	
	inquiry process	
•	Guides students in active and extended	
	scientific inquiry	
•	Provides opportunities for scientific	
	discussion and debate among students	
•	Assess students continuously	
•	Shares responsibility for learning with	
	students	
•	Supports a classroom community with	
	cooperation, shared responsibility, and	
	respect	
•	Treats students as collaborators in the	
	learning process	
•	Collaborates with students by sharing	
	decision making with them and	
	respecting the decisions their students	
	made, which empowered their	
	students and promoted autonomous	
	learning.	
•	Asks students to work together to assist	
	each other's learning and monitor each	
	other's progress and products	
•	Ensures that students learn in an active,	
	hands-on fashion and discover	
	initiatives	
	Discourages reto learning in students	
•	and foster inquiry often using Socratic	
	questioning to stimulate higher-order	
	thinking and problem solving when	
	investigating natural phenomena	
Outco	mes: Students are able to:	
-	Gain Understanding	
-	Comprehend the meaning of the learning	content
-	Be motivated	
	(Dewi & Primayana, 2019) (Suryawati &	k Osman, 2018) (Glynn & Winter, 2004)

6.1.18 Digital game-based learning:

High Loyal	Low Loval
Fign Level	LOW Level
 Provides support in the "Pre-Game" by: 	 Gives handouts: Guides, questions, and problems to be solved
by.	problems to be solved
demonstrations and practice	
 b. Lecturing: Curriculum content and game content 	
 Provides support in the "Game" by: 	

High Level	Low Level
a. Scaffolding: Scaffolding content	
and problem-solving	
b. Managing the classroom:	
Giving instructions,	
timekeeping, seating	
arrangements, and keeping	
students on task	
c. Providing technical support:	
Hardware, software, and	
internet	
 Provides support in "Post-Game" by: 	
a. Debriefing: Discussion and	
reflection	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Think creatively	
- Solve problems	
(Bado,	2022)

6.1.19 Story-based learning:

 Reads the story using the images via picture book or bring images from the Internet web search. While reading the story, the teacher makes a different voice to represent a different character from the story and uses TPR (Total Physical Response) to act. Introduces new vocabulary and a review. Confirms the list of vocabulary in one round. A keyword is decided and written on the blackboard. Puts students get into pairs Scaffolds learning to guide practices of creativity strategies and dispositions Encourages goal setting Gives constructive feedback and verbal encouragement for performance Gives hands-on activity using a worksheet Wraps up Encourages students to praise their friends and thank each other. Outcomes: Students are able to: Think creatively Solve problems 	High Level	Low Level
 Think creatively Solve problems 	 Reads the story using the images via picture book or bring images from the Internet web search. While reading the story, the teacher makes a different voice to represent a different character from the story and uses TPR (Total Physical Response) to act. Introduces new vocabulary and a review. Confirms the list of vocabulary in one round. A keyword is decided and written on the blackboard. Puts students get into pairs Scaffolds learning to guide practices of creativity strategies and dispositions Encourages goal setting Gives constructive feedback and verbal encouragement for performance Gives hands-on activity using a worksheet Wraps up Encourages students to praise their friends and thank each other. 	 Asks the students what morals they learned from the story and what they felt was impressive in the story. Asks students to recall the new vocabulary they heard in the story. Asks students about the characters they liked in the story. (The discussion time is to encourage students to participate speaking in English)
- Solve problems	- Think creatively	
	- Solve problems	
(Bidari, 2019) (Yeh et al., 2022)		

6.1.20 Inter-cultural learning:

High Level	Low Level
High Level • Activates prior knowledge • Handles errors constructively • Treats students with warmth, respect, and humour • Provides clear rules and routines • Stimulates discussions of different cultural conceptions • Encourages perspective taking • Raises awareness of the dynamic nature of culture	 Low Level Provides activities for students to explore and share their cultural differences through the web platform Provides activities for students to raise questions Provides activities for students to assess their final explanations against accurate explanations/models. Provides activities for students to collaboratively open discussions
 Encourages critical scrutiny of prejudices Takes into consideration students' own experiences Encourages tolerance and respect Encourages critical scrutiny of prejudices Enhances students' feelings of autonomy, competence, and social-relatedness Employs a preventive approach to classroom management Supports reflection on cultural diversity Support students' self-determination by showing warmth, respect, and humour Handles errors constructively (Provides activities for students to work collaboratively with one another to explore concepts through hands-on activities Provides activities for students to redefine their explanations collaboratively based on scaffolding/lesson materials provided by the class teacher Provides activities for students to explain and share their geographical/cultural differences through the web platform. Provides activities for students from different countries to interact with each other through Skype-mediated video conferencing and through viewing and commenting on each other's learning artefacts posted on the project's online platform. Provides activities for students to use the video conferencing sessions to engaged students from different countries in conversation about matters related to the science topic that both groups were studying at the same time in the school term.
- Share narrative culture	
(Vieluf & Göbel, 2019) (Cl	hu, Martin, & Park, 2019)

1 21 Mahila/I _

High Level	Low Level
 appropriate resources for gaining knowledge based on their needs. Provides a learning support system for guiding students to learn based on the predetermined learning path to maximize their learning outcomes. Provides a mobile interactive teaching feedback system to support learners with online problem-based asynchronous discussion. Provides a location-based system that assisted students in observing and constructing knowledge at their own learning pace on an ecological field trip. 	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
 Gain knowledge and skills Acquire more subject knowledge Have more interest in learning 	

6.1.22 Personalised-based learning:

0	
High Level	Low Level
 Applies a more collaborative 	
relationship with students for	
sharing responsibility for decision-	
making within the learning	
environment	
• Provides students with choice in	
the classroom to increase their	
motivation, engagement, and	
performance	
Gives students organizational	
choice (i.e., choice in learning	
environment through co- creation	
of classroom rules and due dates),	
procedural choice (i.e., choice in	
how learning is presented), and	
cognitive choice (i.e., freedom for	
students to argue their own points	
and choice in how they solve	
problems), (i.e., ways to solve	
problems), pace (i.e., pace and	
order of work), format (i.e., how	
work is presented), topic (i.e., what	
is studied), and mobility (i.e.,	
working individually or in groups).	
Offers students individualized	
support and guidance during this	

High Level	Low Level
planning process. Once students	
completed their learning plans,	
they were provided the freedom to	
direct their own learning and	
decide how they want to carry out	
their projects.	
 Spends time checking in with 	
individual students, monitors their	
progress, and provides suggestions	
for how they could advance their	
projects.	
 Involves in students' work as long 	
as it was to help them with the	
projects they originally chose.	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
Gain interest and self-confidence	
(Netcoh, 2017)	

6.1.23 Research-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
• Engages students in discussions of their	Asks students to discuss their ideas
investigations.	 Asks students to think about
 Debriefs lessons with a concluding 	observations in terms of senses, and
discussion that engage students in	then the kinds of meanings that they
thinking about how and what they did	could make from those observations as
in their investigation was similar to	inferences.
what scientists did.	 Asks questions to embed students in
 Through discussions, the teacher leads 	the teaching content
them to think about the data, about	 Asks students to discuss the aspects
observations and inferences, and about	they noted (with examples) that were
how scientists created an	present in their inquiry
understanding from these	 Ask students to note that as they are
investigations.	creating designs for what contributes to
 Uses explicit-reflective instruction to 	something spinning, they are creating
improve understandings of the process	an understanding for what initiates an
 Uses explicit- reflective instruction, 	item to spin (and to spin the longest,
including observation and inference	for example)
charts to debrief students' lessons	 Asks students to make observations of
Leads students to conceptualise	their designs and inferences
scientific creativity by noticing that they	 Asks students to make records of their
are creating an understanding	science content knowledge as well as
Directs students to think about various	their aspect knowledge on worksheets
aspects present in the inquiry	or in notebooks.
Enables students to contextualize	Asks students to think about aspects as
instruction into content that students	they conduct their investigations
will learn in their classrooms, in this	• Uses the poster to ask the students to
case literacy content.	reflect on their investigation as the
Reads each aspect and definition from	teacher draws students' attention to
the poster, and talk about the terms	

 Uses think-aloud strategy to model ways to think Uses questions phrased in ways such that they draw attention to Draws students' attention to the fact that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (methy the parts related to the class for discussion.
 ways to think Uses questions phrased in ways such that they draw attention to Draws students' attention to the fact that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries fram guided (morthy to phone lag) to phone.
 Uses questions phrased in ways such that they draw attention to Draws students' attention to the fact that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations
 that they draw attention to Draws students' attention to the fact that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and mortance of collectin
 Draws students' attention to the fact that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations
 that all students in their group have different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mextly to phone led) to
 different knowledge bases they bring to the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and userverstive there at the see the
 the discussion, and therefore their viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries fram guided (marthy tagebra lad) to positive students in the set of the class fram guided (marthy tagebra lad) to positive students in the set of the class fram guided (marthy tagebra lad) to positive students in the set of the se
 viewpoints about the investigations may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and reportance of collecting and teacher points out the importance of collecting empirical evidence in the development of scientific understandings. Asks students to record observations and inferences of phenomena on a chart or in their notebooks. These observations and inferences can be reported to the class for discussion. Asks students to use charts, graphs, and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly trasport led) to
 may be slightly different. Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (methy teacher led) to the class for discussion.
 Helps students understand the importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and reservations these data can the user in the importance of collecting and reservations these data can the user in the importance of collecting and reservations these data can the user in the importance of collecting and reservations to use the user in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly topshor led) to importance of collecting and reservations in the user in the user in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly topshor led) to importance of collecting and importa
 importance of evidence, the role of observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent their scientific observations Asks students to record observations and inferences of phenomena on a chart or in their notebooks. These observations and inferences can be reported to the class for discussion. Asks students to use charts, graphs, and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togener led) to the class for discussion.
 observation and inference as their ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent their scientific observations Asks students to record observations and inferences of phenomena on a chart or in their notebooks. These observations and inferences can be reported to the class for discussion. Asks students to use charts, graphs, and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togetar lod) to provide the section of the secti
 ideas develop through investigations. Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and and inferences of phenomena on a chart or in their notebooks. These observations and inferences can be reported to the class for discussion. Asks students to use charts, graphs, and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togener led) to
 Uses an observation and inference chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent their scientific data as there are the scientific data as the scientific data
 chart that students can use in many different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and representing these data as they appresent the scientific data to represent the scientific observations Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent the scientific data as they appresent the scientific data as the scientific da
 different investigations. Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent the intervention the scientific data and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togener led) to an analyse data and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations
 Helps students see that they need to collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and Asks students to use charts, graphs, and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togetar loc) to a student of the section of the section
 collect, organize, and analyse data in order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and and methods of classifying data to represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togener led) to
 order to make scientific claims Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and represent their scientific observations Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly togener led) to the importance of collecting and
 Draws students' attention to the importance of collecting and Provide students with activities that engage them in a variety of inquiries from guided (mostly teacher led) to
importance of collecting and engage them in a variety of inquiries
from guided (mostly together lod) to
representing these data so they can from guided (mostly leacher-led) to
make better inferences. open (mostly student-led) as they are
Uses explicit and reflective instruction exploring science
to direct students to notice that they • Uses poster to hold a discussion and
are being scientifically creative in have students elaborate on how they
designing, carrying out, recording, and were scientifically creative in designing
interpreting the data that then the investigation and in interpreting
influences how they design their roller evidence
coasters
Uses hands-on investigations
Motivates students to raise guestions,
collect data, and make observations
and inferences of phenomena.
Uses guided inquiries to help students
conceptualize how to design and carry
out an investigation by planning the
investigation along with them.
Facilitates class discussion surrounding
what the students already know about
what may influence their inquiry
designs.
• Discusses with the students what they
know about scientific investigations.
Draws students' attention to the data
through questioning.
Outcomes: Students are able to:
 Connect to the real-world
– Choose

High Level	Low Level
 Be responsible 	
 Think critically 	
 Be autonomous 	
 Be more engaged in learning 	
 Comprehend knowledge 	
 Understand the problem-solving process 	5
(Akerson	et al., 2019)

6.1.24 Self-regulated learning:

	Level and
High Level	Low Level
 Uses a mechanism to see if a student 	
is moving towards achieving a set	
goal.	
 Provides an evaluation of learners' 	
activities or progress of learning	
progress.	
 Monitors and measures time spent 	
on learning, assessment, or	
planning.	
 Provides visualization to support 	
self-regulation learning strategies.	
This show student can use a	
progress bar or chat to see the	
learning process's progress and	
outcomes.	
 Supports self-regulated learning 	
using solutions to the current	
problem, personalized messages, or	
correction.	
 Provides recommendation that can 	
be skill-based, strategies or widgets	
to help learners' skills development	
 Supports learners' help-seeking. 	
These include discussion forums,	
learning agents, or peer learning.	
 Measures the learner's opinion on 	
whether the functionalities provided	
are ease to use and meet their	
learning need	
 Evaluates learners' satisfaction. This 	
is the degree to how the	
functionalities meet learner's	
learning needs and expectations	
Fosters adaptive student-teacher	
relationships	
 Develops students' help-seeking and 	
help giving skills	
 Uses explicit instruction 	

High Level	Low Level
 Models self-regulated learning skills 	
 Provides effective feedback 	
 Uses prompts and cues to increase 	
strategic thinking and action and	
elicit metacognition	
 Provides activities for self- 	
assessment and self-reflection	
Provides worksheets	
Encourages Peer co-learning	
 Facilitates learners to develop 	
personalised learning objectives	
Enables learners to have control	
over the learning process	
Enhance computer literacy of	
learners	
Provides personalised guidance for	
learners	
Provides real-time feedback and	
support	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Learn independently	
- Get engaged in the learning process	
(Gambo & Shakir, 2021) (Ca	lan et al., 2021) (Li & Wong, 2021)

6.1.25 Question-based learning:

High Level	Low Level
 High Level Provides guiding questions for students to actively explore the required knowledge to solve the problems. Poses questions to serve a variety of purposes, such as managing the classroom, reinforcing a fact or concept, stimulating thinking, arousing interest, and helping students develop a particular mind-set Poses questions that act as instructional cues or stimuli that convey to students the content elements to be learned and directions for what they are to do and how they are to do it. Stimulates, guides, and assesses the science process skills and mastery of knowledge of the students. Uses questions to: 	 Provides activities to encourage students conduct investigations and learn more independently
give the instructiondiscover something unknown	
by the teacher	

High Level	Low Level
 determine whether the 	
students know something	
 develop students' thinking skills 	
 motivate students to learn 	
 provide training and practice 	
 help students organize the 	
material	
 help students interpret the 	
material	
 emphasize the things that are 	
important	
 show the relationship such as 	
causality	
 know the interests of students 	
 develop an appreciation to 	
students	
o provide an assessment	
 indicate approval and 	
disapproval	
\circ report	
o evaluate	
 get attention 	
 Provides instruction, develops students 	
thinking skills, motivates students to	
learn, develops critical thinking skills	
and inquiry attitudes, and encourages	
students to hunt their own knowledge	
 Begins with questions that aim to 	
motivate and focus students' attention	
on the concept to be studied.	
Directs the student investigation to the	
inquiry process.	
Outcomes: Students are able to:	
- Develop creativity	
- Learn flexibly	
- Inquiry and discover	
- Learn from errors and failures	
- Open to novelty	
(Adnyana & Citrawathi, 2017)	(Citrawathi & Adnyana, 2018)

6.2 Overview of the pedagogic outcomes

The pedagogic outcomes were divided into three types:

- 1. Application (e.g., Produce creative products, Solve problems, Communicate, Collaborate, Complete games)
- 2. Knowledge gain and processing (e.g., Think critically, Gain problem solving skills, Imagine)

3. Change in attitude (e.g., Be mindful of the process, Learn independently, Feel ownership of their work, Be motivated)

All of the 25 pedagogic principles are expected to be included in the three types of pedagogic outcomes: 1) application; 2) knowledge gain and processing; and 3) change in attitude. However, with respect to the 25 pedagogic principles, the literature focused on certain types of outcomes and did not involve others. Table 5 provides an overview of the relationships found between pedagogic principles and pedagogic outcomes. The numbers of outcomes identified were used to categorise four levels of outcome: none; low; medium; and high. For example:

- In design-based thinking and learning, there was: 1) high focus on application; 2) low focus on knowledge gain and processing; and 3) low focus on change in attitude.
- In feedback-based learning, there was: 1) medium focus on application; 2) low focus on knowledge gain and processing; and 3) low focus on change in attitude.
- In the multimedia learning, there was: 1) low focus on application; 2) no focus on knowledge gain and processing; and 3) low focus on change in attitude.

 Table 5: Relationship of Pedagogic Principles to Pedagogic Outcomes shown in the reviewed

 Literature

	Pedagogic Outcomes		
Pedagogic Principles	Application	Knowledge Gain & Processing	Change in attitude
	<i>2</i> 7		
Design-based/Design thinking learning		V	V
Problem-based learning	•	•	V
STEM toys learning		•	V
Group learning	0	•	0
Multimedia learning	▼	0	V
Reflective learning	▼	0	V
Collaborative game-design learning		0	0
Engineering design learning	▼	•	▼
Exploratory learning	▼	•	0
Simulative-based learning	▼	•	0
Inquiry-based learning	▼	•	0
Experiential learning	▼	•	▼
Feedback-based learning	•	•	▼
Inclusive learning	•	0	0
Service learning	0	•	▼
Learning by modelling	▼		0
Contextual learning	0		▼
Digital game-based learning	▼	•	0
Personalised learning	0	0	▼
Intercultural learning	▼	0	0
Mobile or location game-based learning	0	•	▼
Research-based learning		•	•
Question-based learning	•	V	V
Self-regulated Learning	•	0	V
Story-based learning	▼	V	0

Кеу			
NONE = 0	LOW = less than or equal to 3	MEDIUM = from 4 to 6	HIGH = more than or equal to
Symbol = (O)	outcomes	outcomes	7 outcomes
	Symbol = (🔻)	Symbol = (•)	Symbol = (🔺)

6.3 Relating instructional approaches to the pedagogic principles

Instructional approaches in the literature were identified through two different categories:

- High-level approaches (e.g., Fosters positive student interaction, Diagnoses the progress)
- Low-level approaches (e.g., Gives handouts, Provides activities)

All of the 25 PPs are expected to include the two levels of approaches. However, after analysing the literature, it was found that: 1) some included both levels; 2) some included either one or the other level; and 3) some excluded one of the levels. In addition, it was found that in each level, there was either: 1) high focus; 2) low focus; 3) medium focus; or 4) no focus. For example:

- In design-based thinking and learning, the high-level approaches were highly focused, more than the low-level approaches, which were considered low in focus.
- In feedback-based learning, only the design component was included.

The relationship between pedagogic principles, and the levels of approach and their levels of focus, is shown in Table 6.

	Instructional Approaches	
	High-Level	Low-Level
Pedagogic Principles		
Design-based/Design thinking learning	A	▼
Problem-based learning	▲	▼
STEM toys learning	▲	
Group learning	▲	0
Multimedia learning	V	•
Reflective learning	▼	
Collaborative game-design learning	•	•
Engineering design learning	V	
Exploratory learning	V	
Simulative-based learning	•	▼
Inquiry-based learning		0
Experiential learning		0
Feedback-based learning	▲	0
Inclusive learning		▼
Service learning	•	▼
Learning by modelling	▲	•
Contextual learning	▲	
Digital game-based learning		•
Personalised learning	•	0
Intercultural learning		

Table 6: Relationship of Pedagogic Principles to Instructional Approaches

Mobile or location game-based learning	A
Research-based learning	▲
Question-based learning	▼
Self-regulated learning	0
Story-based learning	▼

Кеу			
NONE = 0	LOW = less than or equal to 3	MEDIUM = from 4 to 6	HIGH = more than or equal to
Symbol = (O)	approaches	approaches	7 approaches
	Symbol = (🔻)	Symbol = (•)	Symbol = (🔺)

7. An overview framework

In Figure 4, an overview framework relates the twenty-five pedagogic principles to:

- 1. The eight pedagogic objectives (numbered from 1 to 8 in green)
- 2. The three pedagogic outcomes (numbered from 1 to 3 in blue)
- 3. The five teachers' practices (numbered from 1 to 5 in orange)
- 4. The two levels of instructional approaches (numbered from 1 to 2 in yellow)

Each pedagogic principle is shown on the left, and the cells to the right of it show the eight pedagogic objectives, the three pedagogic outcomes, the five teachers' practices, and the two instructional approaches.

An important note to consider when reading this framework:

- If the cell is empty, that means that this cell is optional.
- If the cell includes a number that means that this cell is mandatory.
- The number in each coloured cell corresponds to the category to which it belongs.

For example:

- In Design-based/Design thinking learning:
 - Objectives shown are:
 - 1, 3, 4, and 6, which correspond to solve problems, collaborate, interact, and design.
 - Outcomes shown are:
 - 1, 2, and 3, which correspond to application, knowledge gain and processing, and change in attitude.
 - Teaching practices shown are:
 - 1, 2, 3, and 4, which correspond to technology, design activities, affective component, and external stakeholders.
 - Instructional approaches shown are:
 - 1 and 2, which correspond to high-level and low-level instructional approaches.

Pedagogic Principles
Design-based/Design thinking learning
Problem-based learning 1 4 6 1 2 3 2 1 2
STEM toys learning 3 4 1 2 3 2 1 2
Group learning 1 3 4 2 3 2 3 1
Multimedia learning
Reflective learning 4 5 1 3 2 1 2
Collaborative game-design learning
Engineering design learning 1 4 6 8 1 2 3 2 1 2
Exploratory learning 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 1 2
Simulative-based learning 1 2 4 7 8 1 2 1 2 1 2
Inquiry-based learning 1 2 3 4 1 2 2 3 1
Experiential learning 1 4 5 8 1 2 3 2 3 4 1
Feedback-based learning
Inclusive learning 3 4 1 2 3 5 1 2
Service learning 1 3 4 5 2 3 2 3 4 1 2
Learning by modelling 1 4 1 2 1 2 1 2
Contextual learning 4 5 8 2 3 2 1 2
Digital game-based learning 1 3 4 5 6 1 2 1 2 1 2
Personalised learning 1 4 4 3 1 2 3 1 1
Intercultural learning 4 1 2 3 5 1 2
Mobile or location game-based learning
Research-based learning 1 2 4 5 7 1 2 3 2 1 2
Question-based learning 2 4 1 2 3 2 1 2
Self-regulated learning
Story-based learning 1 4 4 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2



Figure 5: The Overview Framework

8. References

- Adnyana, P. B., & Citrawathi, D. M. (2017). The Effectiveness of question-based inquiry module in learning biological knowledge and science process skills. *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education*, 12(8), 1871–1878.
- Akerson, V. L., Carter, I., Pongsanon, K., & Nargund-Joshi, V. (2019). Teaching and learning nature of science in lementary classrooms: Research-based strategies for practical implementation. *Science and Education*, 28, 391–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-019-00045-1
- Alfred, M., Neyens, D. M., & Gramopadhye, A. K. (2018). Comparing learning outcomes in physical and simulated learning environments. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 68, 110– 117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ergon.2018.07.002
- Alhuzimi, T. (2020). Efficacy of video modelling (VM) in developing social skills in children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) at school in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 69*(2), 550–564. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2020.1716962
- Arık, M., & Topçu, M. S. (2022). Implementation of engineering design process in the K-12 science classrooms: Trends and issues. *Research in Science Education*, 52(1), 21–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-019-09912-x
- Aslan, S. A., & Duruhan, K. (2021). The effect of virtual learning environments designed according to problem-based learning approach to students' success, problem-solving skills, and motivations. Education and Information Technologies (Vol. 26). Education and Information Technologies. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10354-6
- Bado, N. (2022). Game-based learning pedagogy: a review of the literature. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *30*(5), 936–948. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1683587
- Baykal, G. E., Van Mechelen, M., Wagner, M. L., & Eriksson, E. (2021). What FabLearn talks about when talking about reflection — A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, 28, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcci.2021.100256
- Bidari, S. (2019). Story-based teaching: Activities for young learners. *Journal of NELTA, 24*, 233–236. https://doi.org/10.3126/nelta.v24i1-2.27695
- Bishop, P. A. (2021). Middle grades teacher practices during the COVID-19 pandemic. *RMLE Online*, 44(7), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2021.1959832
- Bjørkvold, T., & Ryen, E. (2021). Exploring the perceived learning of 'students as researchers' through two theoretical lenses. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *53*(6), 784–801. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2021.1881168
- Borokhovski, E., Tamim, R., Bernard, R. M., Abrami, P. C., & Sokolovskaya, A. (2012). Are contextual and designed student-student interaction treatments equally effective in distance education? *Distance Education*, *33*(3), 311–329. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2012.723162
- Burden, K., Kearney, M., Schuck, S., & Hall, T. (2019). Investigating the use of innovative mobile pedagogies for school-aged students: A systematic literature review. *Computers and Education*, 83–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.04.008
- Callan, G. L., Longhurst, D., Ariotti, A., & Bundock, K. (2021). Settings, exchanges, and events: The SEE framework of self-regulated learning supportive practices. *Psychology in the Schools*, *58*, 773–788. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22468

- Chen, C. C., Chen, H. R., & Wang, T. Y. (2022). Creative situated augmented reality learning for astronomy curricula. *Educational Technology and Society*, *25*(2), 148–162.
- Cheng, S. C., Hwang, G. J., & Chen, C. H. (2019). From reflective observation to active learning: A mobile experiential learning approach for environmental science education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *50*(5), 2251–2270. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12845
- Chu, H. E., Martin, S. N., & Park, J. (2019). A theoretical framework for developing an intercultural STEAM program for Australian and Korean students to enhance science teaching and learning. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 17, 1251–1266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-018-9922-y
- Chung, C. J., Hwang, G. J., & Lai, C. L. (2019). A review of experimental mobile learning research in 2010–2016 based on the activity theory framework. *Computers and Education*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.10.010
- Citrawathi, D. M., & Adnyana, P. B. (2018). Question-based inquiry module can be to increase science process skills on the study of humans digestive system. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1116/5/052016
- Coskun, A., & Cagiltay, K. (2022). A systematic review of eye-tracking-based research on animated multimedia learning. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *38*, 581–598. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12629
- Coyle, E. F., & Liben, L. S. (2020). Gendered packaging of a STEM toy in fluences children's play, mechanical Learning, and Mothers' play guidance. *Child Development*, *91*(1), 43–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13139
- Crawford, B. A., & Cullin, M. J. (2004). Supporting prospective teachers' conceptions of modelling in science. *International Journal of Science Education*, *26*(11), 1379–1401. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690410001673775
- Crompton, H., Burke, D., Jordan, K., & Wilson, S. W. G. (2021). Learning with technology during emergencies: A systematic review of K-12 education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13114
- Daradoumis, T., & Arguedas, M. (2020). Cultivating students' reflective learning in metacognitive activities through an affective pedagogical agent. *Educational Technology & Society*, 23(2), 19–31.
- De Graaff, E., & Kolmos, A. (2003). Characteristics of problem-based learning. *International Journal* of Engineering Education, 19(5), 657–662.
- Dewi, P. Y. A., & Primayana, K. H. (2019). Effect of learning module with setting contextual teaching and learning to increase the understanding of concepts. *International Journal of Education and Learning*, 1(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.31763/ijele.v1i1.26
- Dobber, M., Zwart, R., Tanis, M., & van Oers, B. (2017). Literature review: The role of the teacher in inquiry-based education. *Educational Research Review*, *22*, 194–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.09.002
- Falloon, G. (2019). Using simulations to teach young students science concepts: An experiential learning theoretical analysis. *Computers and Education*, 138–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.03.001

- Finkelstein, S., Sharma, U., & Furlonger, B. (2021). The inclusive practices of classroom teachers: a scoping review and thematic analysis. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(6), 735– 762. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1572232
- Freitas, S. de, & Neumann, T. (2009). The use of "exploratory learning" for supporting immersive learning in virtual environments. *Computers and Education*, *52*, 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2008.09.010
- Gambo, Y., & Shakir, M. Z. (2021). Review on self-regulated learning in smart learning environment. *Smart Learning Environments*, *8*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-021-00157-8
- Gartland, S. (2021). Exploring elementary student perceptions of experiential learning within critical service-learning. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *44*(1), 50–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825920980786
- Garzón, J., Kinshuk, Baldiris, S., Gutiérrez, J., & Pavón, J. (2020). How do pedagogical approaches affect the impact of augmented reality on education? A meta-analysis and research synthesis. *Educational Research Review*, *31*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100334
- Glynn, S. M., & Winter, L. K. (2004). Contextual teaching and learning of science in elementary schools. *Journal of Elementary Science Education*, *16*(2), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03173645
- Gómez Puente, S. M., Van Eijck, M., & Jochems, W. (2013). A sampled literature review of designbased learning approaches: A search for key characteristics. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, *23*, 717–732. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-012-9212-x
- Griffith, A. N., Johnson, H. E., Larson, R. W., & Buttitta, E. K. (2020). A qualitative examination of critical feedback processes in project-based youth programs. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 62, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101892
- Hall, C., & Thomson, P. (2016). Creativity in teaching: What can teachers learn from artists? *Research Papers in Education*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2016.1144216
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The power of feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(1), 81–112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487
- Haydon, T., Musti-Rao, S., McCune, A., Clouse, D. E., McCoy, D. M., Kalra, H. D., & Hawkins, R. O. (2017). Using video modeling and mobile technology to teach social skills. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *52*(3), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451216644828
- Healey, M., & Jenkins, A. (2000). Kolb's experiential learning theory and its application in geography in higher education. *Journal of Geography*, *99*(5), 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221340008978967
- Hellman, A., & Lind, U. (2021). Lost and found—unfolding and refolding aesthetic learning processes. *Education Sciences*, *11*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11120778
- Huizenga, J., Admiraal, W., Dam, G. ten, & Voogt, J. (2019). Mobile game-based learning in secondary education: Students' immersion, game activities, team performance and learning outcomes. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 137–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.05.020
- Hutchins, N. M., Biswas, G., Maróti, M., Lédeczi, Á., Grover, S., Wolf, R., ... McElhaney, K. (2020).
 C2STEM: a system for synergistic learning of physics and computational thinking. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 29, 83–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-019-09804-9

- Jocius, R., Albert, J., Andrews, A., & Blanton, M. (2020). A study in contradictions: Exploring standards-based making in elementary classrooms. *Journal of Educational Research*, *113*(5), 396–403. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1838409
- Kajamaa, A., & Kumpulainen, K. (2020). Students' multimodal knowledge practices in a makerspace learning environment. *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*, 15(4), 411–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11412-020-09337-z
- Kefallinou, A., Symeonidou, S., & Meijer, C. J. W. (2020). Understanding the value of inclusive education and its implementation: A review of the literature. *Prospects, 49*, 135–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09500-2
- Komis, V., Karachristos, C., Mourta, D., Sgoura, K., Misirli, A., & Jaillet, A. (2021). Smart toys in early childhood and primary education: A systematic review of technological and educational affordances. *Applied Sciences*, *11*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11188653
- Kuusimäki, A. M., Uusitalo, L., & Tirri, K. (2021). Predictors of parental contentment with the amount of encouraging digital feedback from teachers in Finnish schools. *Education Sciences*, *11*(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11060253
- Laakso, N. L., Korhonen, T. S., & Hakkarainen, K. P. J. (2021). Developing students' digital competences through collaborative game design. *Computers and Education*, *174*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104308
- Ladachart, L., Radchanet, V., & Phothong, W. (2022). Design thinking mindsets facilitating students' learning of scientific concepts in design-based activities. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 19(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.36681/tused.2021.106
- Lestari, C. I. A., & Ariesta, F. W. (2020). The effectiveness of the NHT model in improving social skills and social studies learning outcomes in primary schools. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1477/4/042024
- Li, J., Antonenko, P. D., & Wang, J. (2019). Trends and issues in multimedia learning research in 1996–2016: A bibliometric analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *28*(November 2018), 100282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.100282
- Li, K. C., & Wong, B. T. M. (2021). Features and trends of personalised learning: a review of journal publications from 2001 to 2018. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *29*(2), 182–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1811735
- Li, Y., Huang, Z., Jiang, M., & Chang, T. W. (2016). The effect on pupils' science performance and problem-solving ability through Lego: An engineering design-based modeling approach. *Educational Technology and Society*, 19(3), 143–156.
- Liston, B. M. (2022). Designing and building toys: A model of incorporating both the engineering design and design thinking processes in the elementary classroom. *The Elementary Stem Journal*, 11–18. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203222454-10
- Liu, E., & Zhao, J. (2022). Meta-analysis of effectiveness of electroencephalogram monitoring of sustained attention for improving online learning achievement. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 50(5), 1–11.
- Lloyd, Rieber, P. (1996). Seriously considering play: Designing interactive learning environments based on the blending of microworlds, simulations, and games. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 44(2), 43–58. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/BF02300540.pdf

- López-Azuaga, R., & Suárez Riveiro, J. M. (2020). Perceptions of inclusive education in schools delivering teaching through learning communities and service-learning. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *24*(9), 1019–1033. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1507049
- Lottero-Perdue, P. S., & Lachapelle, C. P. (2020). Engineering mindsets and learning outcomes in elementary school. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *109*, 640–664. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20350
- Mahbub, P., Seraj, I., Chakraborty, R., Mehdi, T., & Roshid, M. M. (2022). A systematic review on pedagogical trends and assessment practices during the COVID-19 pandemic: Teachers ' and students' perspectives. *Education Research International*, 1–13.
- Maier, U. (2021). Self-referenced vs. reward-based feedback messages in online courses with formative mastery assessments: A randomized controlled trial in secondary classrooms. *Computers and Education*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104306
- Margulieux, L. E., McCracken, W. M., & Catrambone, R. (2015). Mixing in-class and online learning: Content meta-analysis of outcomes for hybrid, blended, and flipped courses. *Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning Conference, CSCL, 1,* 220–227.
- Maryani, I., Lestari, N. W., & Saifuddin, M. F. (2019). Magazine based on guided inquiry-an innovation to overcome natural science learning difficulties in elementary schools. *Pedagogika*, *136*(4), 51–66. https://doi.org/10.15823/p.2019.136.4
- Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., & Baki, M. (2013). The effectiveness of online and blended learning: A meta-analysis of the empirical literature. *Teachers College Record*, *115*, 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146811311500307
- Merritt, J., Lee, M. Y., Rillero, P., & Kinach, B. M. (2017). Problem-based learning in K-8 mathematics and science education: A literature review. *The Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, *11*(2), 5–17.
- Monrat, N., Phaksunchai, M., & Chonchaiya, R. (2022). Developing students' mathematical critical thinking skills using open-ended questions and activities based on student learning preferences. *Education Research International*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/3300363
- Muramatsu, K., Wangmo, S., & Wangchuk, Y. (2019). e-Design education using a 3d printer based on design thinking at primary school. *Proceedings of the European Conference on E-Learning, ECEL*, 412–419. https://doi.org/10.34190/EEL.19.107
- Netcoh, S. (2017). Balancing freedom and limitations: A case study of choice provision in a personalized learning class. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 66*, 383–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.010
- Nisiforou, E. A., Kosmas, P., & Vrasidas, C. (2021). Emergency remote teaching during COVID-19 pandemic: lessons learned from Cyprus. *Educational Media International*, *58*(2), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2021.1930484
- Noel, L.-A., & Liu, T. L. (2016). Using design thinking to create a new education paradigm for elementary level children for higher student engagement and success. *DRS2016: Future-Focused Thinking*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.21606/drs.2016.200
- Panskyi, T., & Rowińska, Z. (2021). A holistic digital game-based learning approach to out-of-school primary programming education. *Informatics in Education*, *20*(2), 255–276. https://doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2021.12

- Piipponen, O., & Karlsson, L. (2019). Children encountering each other through storytelling: Promoting intercultural learning in schools. *Journal of Educational Research*, *112*(5), 590–603. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2019.1614514
- Resch, K., & Schrittesser, I. (2021). Using the Service-learning approach to bridge the gap between theory and practice in teacher education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2021.1882053
- Rice, M. F. (2022). Special education teachers' use of technologies during the COVID-19 era (Spring 2020—Fall 2021). *TechTrends*, *66*, 310–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-022-00700-5
- Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Merritt, E. G., Lapan, C., DeCoster, J., Hunt, A., & Bowers, N. (2021). Can service-learning boost science achievement, civic engagement, and social skills? A randomized controlled trial of connect science. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 74, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101236
- Roldán-álvarez, D., Martín, E., & Haya, P. A. (2021). Collaborative video-based learning using tablet computers to teach job skills to students with intellectual disabilities. *Education Sciences*, *11*(437), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11080437
- Sarwoto, T. A., Jatmiko, B., & Sudibyo, E. (2020). Development of online science teaching instrument based on scientific approach using PhET simulation to improve learning outcomes at elementary school. *IJORER : International Journal of Recent Educational Research*, 1(2), 90–107. https://doi.org/10.46245/ijorer.v1i2.40
- Scott, L., Pilla, L., Keeffe, L. O., & White, B. (2021). STEM through inquiry projects for students: A teacher's perspective. *Teaching Science*, *67*(3), 26–37.
- Sinervo, S., Sormunen, K., Kangas, K., Hakkarainen, K., Lavonen, J., Juuti, K., ... Seitamaa-Hakkarainen,
 P. (2021). Elementary school pupil's co-inventions: products and pupil's reflections on processes. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 31, 653–676.
- So, W. W. M., Chen, Y., & Wan, Z. H. (2019). Multimedia e-learning and self-regulated science learning: a study of primary school learners' experiences and perceptions. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 28, 508–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-019-09782-y
- Spitzer, M. W. H., & Musslick, S. (2021). Academic performance of K-12 students in an onlinelearning environment for mathematics increased during the shutdown of schools in wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(8), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255629
- Stehle, S. M., & Peters-Burton, E. E. (2019). Developing student 21st century skills in selected exemplary inclusive STEM high schools. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 6(39), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-019-0192-1
- Sumarmi, Bachri, S., Irawan, L. Y., Putra, D. B. P., Risnani, & Aliman, M. (2020). The effect of experiential learning models on high school students learning scores and disaster countermeasures education abilities. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 8(1), 61–85. https://doi.org/10.17478/jegys.635632
- Sun, Y., Chang, C. H., & Chiang, F. K. (2022). When life science meets educational robotics: A study of students' problem solving process in a primary school. *Educational Technology and Society*, 25(1), 166–178.
- Sung, H. Y., Hwang, G. J., Chen, C. Y., & Liu, W. X. (2022). A contextual learning model for developing interactive e-books to improve students' performances of learning the analects of Confucius. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 30(3), 470–483. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1664595

- Suryawati, E., & Osman, K. (2018). Contextual learning: Innovative approach towards the development of students' scientific attitude and natural science performance. *Eurasia Journal* of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 14(1), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.12973/ejmste/79329
- Tamim, R. M., Bernard, R. M., Borokhovski, E., Abrami, P. C., & Schmid, R. F. (2011). What forty years of research says about the impact of technology on learning: A second-order meta-analysis and validation study. *Review of Educational Research*, *81*(1), 4–28. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654310393361
- Thai, K. P., Bang, H. J., & Li, L. (2022). Accelerating early math learning with research-based personalized learning games: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *15*(1), 28–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2021.1969710
- van den Bergh, L., Ros, A., & Beijaard, D. (2013). Feedback during active learning: Elementary school teachers' beliefs and perceived problems. *Educational Studies*, *39*, 418–430. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2013.767188
- Van der Kleij, F. M., Feskens, R. C. W., & Eggen, T. J. H. M. (2015). Effects of feedback in a computerbased learning environment on students' learning outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 85(4), 475–511. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654314564881
- van Leeuwen, A., & Janssen, J. (2019). A systematic review of teacher guidance during collaborative learning in primary and secondary education. *Educational Research Review*, *27*, 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.02.001
- Vieluf, S., & Göbel, K. (2019). Making intercultural learning in EFL lessons interesting The role of teaching processes and individual learning prerequisites and their interactions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.11.019
- Wang, E., Matsumura, L. C., & Correnti, R. (2017). Written feedback to support students' higher level thinking about texts in writing. *Reading Teacher*, 71(1), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1584
- Wendell, K. B., Andrews, C. J., & Paugh, P. (2019). Supporting knowledge construction in elementary engineering design. *Science Education*, *103*, 952–978. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21518
- Winarno, N., Rusdiana, D., Samsudin, A., Susilowati, E., Ahmad, N. J., Mega, R., & Afifah, A. (2020). The steps of the engineering design process (EDP) in science education: A systematic literature review. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 8(4), 1345–1360. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/jegys/article/766201
- Wisniewski, B., Zierer, K., & Hattie, J. (2020). The power of feedback revisited: A meta-analysis of educational feedback research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.03087
- Wu, T. T., & Liu, W. S. (2022). Effectiveness of remote-control cars and authentic learning in strengthening creative thinking and problem-solving abilities. *Educational Technology and Society*, 25(2), 163–181.
- Yang, Y., Long, Y., Sun, D., Van Aalst, J., & Cheng, S. (2020). Fostering students' creativity via educational robotics: An investigation of teachers' pedagogical practices based on teacher interviews. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 51(5), 1826–1842. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12985

- Yeh, Y. chu, Chang, J. Y., & Ting, Y. S. (2022). Engaging elementary school children in mindful learning through story-based creativity games facilitates their growth mindset. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2022.2041901
- Yeh, Y. chu, Sai, N. P., & Chuang, C. H. (2020). Differentiating between the "need" for and the "experience" of self-determination regarding their influence on pupils' learning of creativity through story-based digital games. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 36(14), 1368–1378. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2020.1750793
- Zhang, F., Markopoulos, P., & Bekker, T. (2020). Children's emotions in design-based learning: a systematic review. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *29*, 459–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-020-09830-y
- Zhou, N., Pereira, N. L., George, T. T., Alperovich, J., Booth, J., Chandrasegaran, S., ... Ramani, K. (2017). The influence of toy design activities on middle school students' understanding of the engineering design processes. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 26, 481–493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-017-9693-1
- Zubiri-Esnaola, H., Vidu, A., Rios-Gonzalez, O., & Morla-Folch, T. (2020). Inclusivity, participation and collaboration: Learning in interactive groups. *Educational Research*, *62*(2), 162–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2020.1755605